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ABSTRACT

This thesis is a historical analysis of Treaty Number
Four from the time of its signing in 1874 until 1905 when the
area covered by this treaty became part of the newly-formed pro-
vince of Saskatchewan. Both dates are significant. In 18749 the
Indian people inhabiting the western part of present-day Manitoba
and the southern part of Saskatchewan were a real force with which
the Canadian government had to contend; in 1905, due %o the influx
of a large agrarien population the southern part of the Northwest
Territories was transform;d into the provinces of Alberta and Saske
atchewan. The Indian population affected by Treaty Number Four,
which had remained relatively constant at about four io five'
thousand was no longer an important factor in Canadian politics
and l1life.

Treaty Numbef Pour, like other treaties of the Northwest
was required to satisfy Indian claims 1o the land and %o pro#ide
them with the means to make a betier life. Settlement demanded
that the government extinguish the Indian ititles and clear the
natives from the desired areas. The governments, by establishing
reserves under the treaty scheme wanted.at the same time ito meet
Indian needs for their own welfare and that of the new inhabitants.

To do this, the government employed the “old Bible-plough"
approach. The various church denominations set out to Christian-
ize the Indians, thereby substituting their so-called primitive
religion or paganism with a more enlightened formal religion.

Government agencies itried to gain Indian co-operation to institute
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Parming systems. This would meake the Indiens ecbnomically inde~

poendente.

The final chapter is a review and ascessment of various

agencies and policies in dealing with eduoation, economics, and

other cultural aspocts of the native people. It deals with the

general Indian Affairs policies as they affected the social de-

velopment of the native people under Treaty Number FouT.




ABBREVIATIONS
The listed abbreviations were used as folldwss
Po Ao Ce for Public Archives of Canada
Po Ao Mo for Public Archives of Manitoba

P. Ao So (Regina) for Public Archives of Saskatchewan
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INTRODUCTION

When Manitoba was created a province in 1870, there
remained a vast area to the north and the west called the Northe-
west Territories, a region mainly devoid of white settlements and
still unorganized. The Indian population of the territories west
of Manitoba consisted of the Assiniboines, the Pleins Crees, and
the Saultesux. Alexander Morris, Lieutenant Governor of Manitoba
and the Northwest Territories, in an officlal report requested
that the area to be covered by Treaty Number Four to be dealt with
immediately. He divided that region into two main tracts. The
£irst one extended from the QufAppelle Lake to the international
boundary, northward to the South Saskatchewan River and westward
to the Cypress Hills. In this iract, hg estimated the population
to be made up of 600 Saulteaux and 800 - 1,000 Plains Crees. The
second area extended eastward from the first to the westward
boundary of Treaty Number Two and northward to the Saskatchewan
River and included about 1,000 Saulteaux and Cree.* In the same
report, he estimated the Assiniboine population to be 2,000
SOUISel

The estimated area ceded by this {reaty was seventwaivé

thousand square milesaz Most of the land to the north was of the

lMorris Papers, Ketcheson Collection, letter Prom Alexandsr
Morris to the Minisiter of the Interior, Otitawa, July, 1873, Public
Archives of Manitoba.

zBegg9 Alexanders The Great Canadian Northwests Jo Lovell
and Sons Printers, 1881, p. 54. See Appendix Il.

#See Appendix T.




parkland type which recoded into the prairie type to the southe
Alexander Morris, writing to Prime Minister Alexander HMcKenzie
early in 1874, described the area as followss

This Tegion « « o is & beautiful couniry with a

very mild climate (illegible). There is an abun-

dance of excellent coal and fine graszing and

arable lande 3
Although the climate may not have been as mild as Morris pictured
ijt, the land was indeed arable and suitable for agriculiural
settlemente The land in the river valleys ﬁith its abundance of
water and timber would be éértioularky appealing to land seekerse

The Assiniboines, a Souian tribe; and the Crees, of
Algonguian stock, were established Plains people. The Assi5iboines
had long been alliedeith the Crees and are sometimes credited
with having taught the latier the art of horsemanship and the ways .
of the Plains Indianse4 The Saulteaux, also of Algonquian stocky
resided to the northeast of the Plains Crees and were friendly
with them.¥* All of these Indians also acquired some food,
clothing, and ammunition through the fur tradees This was par-

ticularly true prior to 1870 when the Hudson's Bay Conmpany had &

legal monopoly of trade with the Indians, and the fur itrade was

3Morris Papers, op. Cites March 16, 1874,

4Mandelbaum9 Do Go, Anthromological Paperss New York,
American Museum of Natural History, 1940, Vole XXXVII, part Ii,

page 165,

5Sharp, Paul F., Whoon=Up Country, Minheapolisg Historical
Society of Hontana edition, 1960, page 43.

#See Appendix IIT.




3
8till important. After 1870, with the coming of compeiition and

the wider use of liquor in trade, the industry impoverished all
the Indians rather than supplied them with goods. In the com—
petition for buffalo robes and furs, free traders paid litile
attention to the Indians' needs or welfare. This trade caused
indiscriminate slaughtering of the buffalo in particular and
caused alarm among residents of the Canadian Northwes+t during the
1870'897

The Crees, who had developed into a Plains tribe during
the sighteenth and nineteenth centuries were the most numerous
trive to be ireated with in 1874. During the third guarter of
the century, their population was depleted because of itwo main

factors —- war and epidemicsy, the latter being the more devasta-

ting. According to Leechman, smallpox sitruck the Indians several
times even as late as 1869@8 War parties against the neighbouring
Blackfoot had always taken ﬁheif $0ll of young men. The abundance
of buffalo on the prairies until the 1860's indicates that the

prairies could have sustained a much larger'populationg but even

?Morris Pavers, Lieutenant Governor's Collection, letter g
from Edward McKay, a former employee of the Hudson's Bay Company
and a trader on the Plains, directed to Alexander Morris by Pasoal
Breland, a prominent Half-Breed. May 21, 1873, P.A.l.

7Ibidoy Febe 29 1875. The Half-Breeds from the Qu?Appelle

region along with several Cree and Saulteaux chiefs petitioned
the Northwest Territories Council to protect the buffalo by passing i
ordinances against wintering on the Plains for buffale huntinge

8Leeohman9 Doy Native Tribes of Canada, Torontos Wo Jo
Gage and Coe.y 1957, peo 106,




then trade was to strike at the very heart of the buffalo and re-
duce it to a dismal few. In the eastern-most part of this treaty
area, the buffalo had practically disappeared by 1874, but the
Indians were still able to hunt it near the Cypress Hills and
across the international border. Ewven befor9418749 there were
signs that the coming of Buropean civilizalion and wanton killing
for trading purposes had diminished the buffalo population to the
extent that the Plains Indians were often reduced to starvation
and destitutione9
By 1873, most reports of tradersy missionaries, and other
residents of the Northwest indicated that con&itioas were far from
satisfactory for the Indians. Partly because of the wide use of
liquor as a trading commodity and partly because of the reduction
of the buffalo, the Indians were quickly being demoralized and
impoverished. Barly in 1873, Bdward McKay wroies |
The state of matters on the plains is most critical
and dangerous, and demands immediate attention of the
Government, the Indians are in great disiress, and
beg of the Government official information regarding
their future welfare. 10

In an official memorandum to the Minister of the Interior, Morris,

to0, pointed out the rapid diminishing of the buffalo and the

9R069'Fe Gos The North American Buffalo, University of
Toronto Press, 1951, p. 148. This is an excellent treatise on
the subjecte

loMorris Papers, Lieutenant Governor's Collsction, !The
State of Affairs in the Forthwesi'®, memorandunm sent to the
Lieutenant Governor of the Northwest Territories, Poholo




destitution of the Indiansell Two Half-Breeds sent on separatie
missions in 1873 substantisted the claims that much unrest was
evident in the Northwest due partly to the lack of food and partly
1o trading practiceselz The so-called ‘war=like® Indians of the
Plains were sufficilently uneasy that Pascal Breland, a prominent
Half-Breed from the White Horse Plains was sent on a good-will
mission west of Manitoba and along the South Saskatchewan Rivere
Breland was sent.by Alexander Morris
o o o pour les informer qu'ils ne sont pas oubliez (sic)
par la Reiney nl par ses serviteurs Canadiens. Vous
Btes autorise & les dire au nom de la Reine qu'un de
ses serviteurs officials (sic) les visiterons (sic)
1'8%¢” prochaine. 13
The Indians also viewed the invasion of their territory by Half=
Breeds with misgivingse
The Indians do not avpprove of the Half-Breeds hunting
in the Plains and would view with disfavour any emig-.

ration of Whites or Half-Breeds until they have been
visited and treaty arrangements concludede. 14

11Morris Papers, Ketcheson's Letter Book Collection Gy
letter to the Minister of the Interior, August 26, 1873, P.A.M.

12These two Half-Breeds were James McKay and John Norquay
who played important roles in the Northwest and in Manitobae.
During the early period of the history of the Northwest, the word
'Half-Breed' normally referred to descendents of English-speaking
and Indian parents. The word '‘Metis! referred to children of
French-speaking and Indian parents. In this thesis, the word
'Half-Breed! will be used to refer to either group since ‘'Metis®
and 'Half-Breed! are now used interchangeablye.

13Morris Papers, Kotcheson's Letter Book G, letter to
Minister of the Interior, August 26, 1873, Po.A.M.

14Morris Papers, Lieutenant Governor's Collection,
Secretary of Northwest Territories Council to Morris, March 9,
1874, P.A.Ms




6
With the ceding of land by the Hudson's Bay Company to the

Dominion government in 1870, the Indians’ apprehension became nore
acute. The governmont had manifested designs of sottling port of
the Northwest in the area along the South Saskatchewan River and
near Prince Albert. These plans came in direct conflict with the
Indians'! communal use of land for hunting and fishinge. There were
admirable examples of this conflict in the United Staies where

the Indiané had yielded 40 'manifest destiny' expressed in ferns
of land-grabbing treaties, and often re~inforced by the musket315
In 1874, the situation was ripe to persuade the Indians to give
up their land, so that Canada could expand settlement westwarde
Before the government deemed it expedient to act, the Indians could
have heard the click, click of the telegraph. Long before this,
thers had been clamouring from various people including government
officials such as Lieutenant Governor Morris for the extinguiéhing
of the Indian titles to their lands in the Northwest. By 1873,

land beyond the western and northern boundaries of Manitoba had

been claimed in the name of the Great Mothery, the Q,ueenel6

15Billington9 Re Aoy Wostward Bxpansions New York, The

Macmillan Company, 1967
Jackson, Heleny, A Century of Dishonour, Minneapolis,

Ross and Haines, 1881,
16

Treaty Number Two extended beyond the Manitoba boundary

and had been signed in 1871. Nany people, including Lieutenant
Governor Morris and members of the Northwesti Territories Council,
received & more favourable hearing from Prime linister McKenzie
than that received from former Prime Minister John A. Macdonalde
No doubt Prime Minister McKenzie with his Clear Grit view of
western expansion was favourable to settling this area.




After the Canadian government acquired the Northwest
Territories from the Hudson's Bay Company, lawlessness and dis-
order prevailed in the region. The Hudson's Bay Company had re=
linquished its role as law giver and had ceased even to police the
fur trade. Not only were there more illegal hunting and trading
practices, but crime went unpunished since there was no legal
machine to curb such practioesel7 Archibald McDonald, chief .
trader at Fort Ellice, subsﬁan%iate& this point when he wrotes
Rest assured that it will be for the benefit of both
the company and the government that troops be sent up
nere before the end of March. 18 :
He also stated that Indians had raided stores for supplies at
Touchwood Hills and Fort Pelly. Im May of 1873, the following
jnformation was sent to Lieutenant Governor Morriss
The whole country and people are in a restlesé states
The laws against liquor and poison are utlterly ignored,
in comsequence of being no executive governmente 19

Free traders, including Americans, were among the worst wviolators

of the law in the Canadien Northwest Territoriese

17Poisoning of animals and the use of liquor as & trading
commodity had been banned, but traders in the Northwest continued
to use themo

18Morris Papers, Lieutenant Governor's Collection, February
11, 1873, Poddle

19Ibideg May 21, 1873. This information given by Edward
McKay was substantiated by most of the reports coming out of the
Northweste




In fact that_the laws are infringed openly and
boastingly {py? Americans and American Half-Breeds
are constantly irading on British Territory, and
opposing British subjects with contraband goods and
liquorse. 20

In an official and confidential communication in March, 1874,
Alexander Morris, writing to the Minister of the Interior saids
The affidavit gives some 1ldea of the extent of the
liquor %raffic, and mentions that poisoning of fur—
bearing animals is carried out to a large extent, in
one case 500 wolves having been killed by one party. 21
One of the more glaring examples of atrocious crimes committed by
traders concerns the killinégof a group of Indians in +the remote
west. In the spring of 1873, twenty-six Assiniboines were murder—
ed and “the body of the chief was treated with peculiar barbarity,
it having been impaled on & stake, and then placed on a high

pil1.22

Although the names of the ringleoaders were known in this
killing, little had been done by 1874 to bring them to Jjustices
The problems brought about by free traders were only one factor
which caused the resident Indians to view their position with mis—
givings°23

The Sioux, considered traditional enemies of the Saulteaux

Indians, had moved northward in search of the buffalo, in search

2OMorris Papers, Lieutenant Governor?®s Collection, May 21,

1873, Poh.M,

2lMorris Papers, Ketcheson Collectiony confidential memor-
andum to Minister of the Interior, March 28, 1874, P.A.l.

zzIbide

23

Sharpy Paul E.y 0pe citey Chapler 4 is an interesiing

account of this nmassacrse.




9
of military help, and in f1ight from the United States army after

the Minnesota War of 1862. They caused concern to the residents
in the Northwest and in Nanitoba. The Crees and the Assiniboines
viewed their encroachment with uneasiness but were too weak 1o
do very much, so they put up with them924 In March, 1873,
anticipating trouble from the Indiaens and urged on by a petition
from the citizens of Palestine (now Gladstoney Manitoba),
Lieutenant Governor Morris wrote o Sir John A. Macdonaldy

In view of possible complications and to give con=

ridence to settlers in outskiris of province please

authorize company volunteer militia of Palestine

under command of Thomas Cory and telegram authority 25

to Cole O. Smith to equip and arm them without delaye
This message came only ten days after Morris had requested the

authority to send a scout to the Northwest to ascertain if

wLittle Knife, & Sioux chief, was in fact organizing a raid

against residents of the British terriﬁoriese“26 Shortly after-

wards, the views of the citizens of Palestine were supported by a
petition from High Bluff.* The Sioux wanted to stop the boundary
survey but received little support from the Indians in British

territory. The most important aspect of the presence of the

24This situation was reported by several people, including
Baward McKay, in a report to Alexander Morris, May 18, 1873.

25Morris Papers, Ketcheson Collectiony telegram to Sir
John Ao Macdonald, March 20, 18735 PoAolo

261pid., March 10, 18734

Preecimsinet)

#See Appendix IV.
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Sioux in the Northwest was that it helped to putl pressure upon the
federal government to bring about law and order in the Northwest.
The presence of the American traders and the American Sioux de-
manded law enforcement,

Closely associated with the need of a Canadian police force
in Indian territory was the need to treat with the Indians for
their lands. It was commonly thought that the Indians of the
Northwest would not welcome the foreign police force without having
had their land dealt with. . Although the Saulteaux, Crees, and
Assiniboines were considered friends of the British and Canadian
people, precautions were taken to forewarn the Indians of the
commissioners® coming in 1874. The task of doing this was
assigned to a Half-Breed, Pierre Laveillier. His mission was

described as the avant garde of civilization. To appease the

Indians he was directed

e o o L0 state that the Queen is sending a force of
mounted police into the Territories for the preservation
of law and order and the prevention of aggressiveness on
the part of lawless American traders against her Indian
subjects. 27

To ensure peace of mind among the Indians, he was to tell them
that the survey line was for their benefit as well, that it was
proposed to treat with them, and that the Queen aimed at dealing

"fairly and justly"™ with themez8

27Morris Papore, Lieutenant Governor's Collection, August
3, 1874, Pohole

Ibide
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At the same time, the activities of the Half-Breeds and
Ruro-Canadians caused local officials to ask the federal govern-
ment to sign treaties with the Indians. The Half-Breeds who had
left Manitoba after 1870 had settled in the Lake Qu'Appelle region
and westward along the South Saskatchewan River. With the resur-
gence of the Riel question in 1873, they were far from content.e
Morris reported that feelings were bad among the Half-Breedss
they wanted to kéep settlement out and Morris feared that the
problens of 1869 could be repeated@29 The Half-Breeds, like the

'Sioux, were considered intrudersAby the Indianss The Half=Breeds
-in this unorganized tefriﬁory refused to rTecognize the authority
of the Northwest Council and set about to establish their own
councile On June 4, 1873, Morris wrote a letiter to the Half-
Breed leaders stating that they were wrong in assuming that no law
existed in the Northwest. He said, "En reponse Je dois wvous dire,
que vous etes dans l'erreur en supposant gqu’il n'y a pas de 1018

30

en force dans les Territoires du Nord Ouest.” When he wrote the
letter, it is true that Canada extended its Jjurisdiction over the

Northwest Territories and laws existed for the land. For exampley
a law had been recently passed to control liquor, but there was no

machinory to enforce this law adequately. A lettor of Morris?

reporting Charles Bell®s return from the Norithwest sums up the

29Morris Papers, Ketcheson Collectiony; Letter from Morris
to Sir John A. Macdonald, September 20, 1873, Pe.d.lle

TR

BOIbideg Letter Book Gy June 4, 1873. Letter to John Fisher,
President of Council, meeting held May 5, 1873.
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situation as followss

He, (Mre. Bell) just returned from the Territories, and

reports to me that a very bad feeling exisis among the

Indians, as also that the Half-Breeds at Lake QufAppelley

claimed that there is no visible Government there and

no policys, and that they did not wish strangers to enter

the couniry. 31

From the point of view of the Indians inhabiting the
territory south of the South Saskatchewan River, it was urgent
that action be taken immediately. The presence of American
traders, the surveyors, the Sioux, the settlers, and the Half-
Breeds, accompanied by & reauction of food supplies and lawlesse
ness caused uneasiness and hardships among the Assiniboines, the
Plains Cree, and the Saulteaux. Pascal Breland himself stated
that the Indians were in a state of distress but were not prepared
to give their lands in reiturn for giftsesz Morris writing to the
Minister of the Interior in 1873 stateds

In view of the fact that no treaty has been made,

although the Indians of the country for some time

past have been led to believe that a commissioner

would be sent to explain all matters connected with
the land questiony; they regard these new setilements

31Morris Papers, Ketcheson Collection. Charles Bell was
enployed by the Geological Survey Branch and had just returned
from the Northwest Territories where surveying of the land had
already begun in 1873. He subsequently became a noted Canadian
historian. The letter was dated October 23, 1873y Peh.lis

32Pascal Breland was sent on an official mission to the
Northwest by Alexander Morris with the approval of the federal
government to investigate conditions and to appease the Indianse.




with suspicion, and are, at the present time, in a
very unsettled frame of minde 33

Pasqua, & Saulteaux chief, in 1873, also sent word to Lleutenant
Governor Morris that his band was ready to negotiate with the
governmente Morris simply promised thatvthe Great White Mother
was anxious to treat them with kindness and justice. This kind
of promise gave the Indians some grounds for believing that they
would be treated equitably by the government which was still
refusing to deal with the Indians at this time because it had been
government policy not to treét with the Indiansy even those who
wanted a treaty, until their lands wefe required and would prove
beneficia1934 In 1874, Pa-pay-wais, a Cree chief, representing
nearly one thousand Indians from the Cypress Hills wanted "to
exchange his land for the food and clothing of the white mans"35
There is no doubt that the Indians constituted a real
threat to the peaceful settlement of the Horthweste The Plains

Crees, often described as a warlike tribe, disliked the coming

of the surveyors and resented the transfer of what they corside=

33Morris Papors, Ketcheson Collection, writing to Ao
Campbell, Minister of the Interior in charge of Indian Affairs.
He wanted to impress upon the government once again that a treaty
was essential. This time he cited the similar views of Reve
Nesbitt of Prince Albert, August 4, 1873, Ped.le

34Morris Papers, Lieutenant Governor's Collectlon, Ao
Campbell writing to A. Morris in July, 1873, said, "If I am right
in believing that their lands are not at present required for the
purpose of settlement, then it would be wise not to go on with
the treaties which you have been urging upon use® PoAoMe

35Morris Papers, Ketcheson Collection Letter Book Jo
%eztﬁr from Ae Norris to Hinister of the Interior, July 25, 18744
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ered their lands by the Hudson's Bay Company to the Canadian

vernment@36 The resentment was ro—inforced by the Hudson's Bay
g0

Company's having received £300,000 for land which t+he Indians
thought was theirs. By 1874, there were many signs that the
Indians wanted a settlement with the Canadian governmente

The Minister of the Interior, although sympathetic to
Morris?! appeals, was not supported by Macdonald's cabinet to
authorize Morris to treat with the Indians in these parts of the
Northwest. The government expréésed the idea that it would be
better to pay the chiefs small salaries to keep them under control
and happy rather than negotiéﬁe a treatye37

In 1874, Alexander Morris was able to convince the new
administration of Alexander McKenzie that treaties ought to be
signed with the natives of the wests In March, 1874, Morris Te-
quested David Laird, the new Minister of the Imterior, to take
prompt action in matiers concerning the Northwest. Then he ad-
vised McKenzie that a treaty would be necessary during the summer
of 1874. He also requested that & police force escort the negoé

tiators so that the warlike Indians, particularly the well—armed

Plains Crees, would be held in checke Permission was finally grant-
ed to Morris-to send Breland to tell the Indians that the Queen's
representatives would meet them in September, 1874, to treat with

t+hem for their landse

36

Macdonald Pavers, Reports of several prominent peopley
including Charles Bell, give an excellent description of the
conditions in the Northwest and of the Plains Crees inclination
1o be troublesom69 18749 Po 12—’459 PvoCg M.Go 279 Ig D 10.

3TMvorris Papers, Ketcheson Collection, Letter from 4.
Campbell to A. Worris, October 19, 1873, Polele




CHAPTER I

TREATY NEGOTIATIONS

In August, 1874, a deputation of government officials and
employees and a number of Half-Breeds escorted by a police force

set out from Fort Garry to QuiAppelle Lake where the Indians were

to assemble. The Queen's Commissioners were headed by Lieutenant

novernor Morris, a brilliant lawyer, politician, and experienced
pegotiatore The Half-Breeds were to act as interpreters and use
their influence among the Indianse. Charles Pratt, a Cree who had
been educated in Winnipeg, was also taken on the trip to act as
interpreter and to use his influence on behalf of the government.
It was common practice for the government to use native people

in soms capacity to influence the general native population to
acquiese to its wille* Some of the Indians had requested that
someone from Red River such as Pascal Breland ought to represent
them, but their wishes were not ocomplied with. Breland remained a
government representative as did James McKay who knew the situation
and the plight of the Indians. Consequently, the Indians, of a
non-literate sBociety, negotiatéd and éigned a treaty which was to
be binding forever without the benefit of proper explanation.

Morris claimed that the treaty had been explained fully, but many

#
See Appendix V for Morris' report of treaty negotiations.
The roles played by various peoples are discussed therein.
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Indians subsequently claimed that they did not understand itsl

The police force was there to support the government negotiatorse.
As Morris later stated, the police played an important role in
bringing about a beneficial and binding treatye.

The Indians were represented by recognized chiefs and
spokesmen who felt they were representing their people in dealing
for their lands with the representatives of the Quaenez At the
negotiating oamp'there was much friction among the Indians so
that they were never able to show a united effort in presenting
their proposals and in sustaining a strong front for a prolonged
period of time. During the negotiations some of the Crees were
eécorted out of the negotiating tent by some of their own soldiers.
According to Morris, the Saulteaux of Fort Pelly and the Crees
were disposed to treat with him afier certainkdemands had been
made or explained away. Their chiefsy Cotg and Loud Voicey, how=

ever, were under surveillance of the Saulteaux from the QutAppells

lFor example, Pasqua, a Saulteaux chief of the Qu'Appelle
region, claimed that he did not understand the treaty. Korris
Papers, Letter Book K., letter from Dickieson, Indian Commissioner
in the Northwest, to the Minister of the Interior; June T, 18769 PohoMe
It is conceivable that the treaty was not clearly understood by
the Indians since many terms were open to interpretations

2In Treaty Number Four, the commissioners dealt with
chiefs and headmen recognized as such by their bands. In the
original treaty, the official number of Indian signatories was
thirteen. This was less than one-half the number of bands which
eventually received reserves under this treaty.
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area who were not disposed to‘treat with the governmoent negotia~
tOTBe3 Even the more well disposed Indians, using Loud Voicé as
their spokesman,; refused to negotiate until the marquée tent was
moved closer to their encampment and away from the Hudson's Bay

Company land Treserve.¥

Traditionally, the Buropean powers, when discovering or con-

quering new territories, had assumed jurisdioction over the native
inhabltants. Forma11y9 the Indians were considered subjects of

the Crown, the status referred tp by Alexander Morris at the
negotiations. In practice at the governmental level, they were
considered to be merely wards of the State which felt itself to be
responsible to elevate them to the more 'advanced civilization® of
the white mane4, This could have created a dilemma, but the Indians
were not able to conceive of their dual status. They had always
believed they were possessors of their lands, they had conducted

their own governmental affairs at the band level, and the Canadian

3Coté was & Half-Breed who qualified as an Indian chief
since he was of Indian blood and was reputed to have followed the
ways of the Indians. Several bands of Indians of Treaty Number
Four area were actually Half-Breed by blood. Canada, Sessional
Papersy, No. 11y pe XXXIV. Loud Voice was a prominent Cree shaman.

aThe white population of Canada generally felt that the
Indians were a less advanced racial group who professed a pagan
religion. Government officials and church leaders saw themselves
as liberators of the Indians. Canada, Sessional Papers, Depart-
ment of Indian Affairs Report, 1901y pe 222, Indians not profess—
ing the Christian faith were listed as pagans in census reiurns.
Canade, Sessional Papers, No. 27, Census Returns, 1901,

*
See Appendix Ve
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government had not yet established its governmental institutions

in the Northwest. There is no doubt that the Canadian government
did not consider the Indians as sovereign nations except when
dealing with them for their lands@5 Even then the Indians were
not considered independent people.

Treaty Number Four, like all other treaties between the
Canadién government and the Indians, appeared 1o be "bona fide".
Considering the format and the content of the treaty, it appears'
as if the In@ians were treatgd as equal nations and as if their
leaders had assumed.the rights to reach an agreement on behalf of
their people with another governmeni.

The most fundamental issue of Treaty Number Four was ‘the
formal and complete transfer of ownership of the lands of the
south-eastern portion of the Northwest Territories to the Canadian
governments The secondary issue was the peaceful settlement to be
reached by the contracting parties for the natives® absolute and
permanent surrender of thelr lands.

At the negotiations for this official transfer of land at
Qu'Appelle Lakes in 1874, the questions raised by the Indian
chiefs and the answers given by Aléxan&er Morris involved pro-
tracted negotiations which revealed the complexity of the problems

associated with the Indian land policy. The main gquestions weres

5In 1873, government officials were directed not to use
the word *'nation® in reference to Indian groups. Consequently,
in the negotiations, the fterm was avoided. See Appendix VI,




19

Who owned the land and what‘degree of ownership did each contraciing
party claim?

In the past these questions had never come into focus
because the land policy of the Imperial government and the use
made of the land by the Hudson's Bay Company had never come in
oonflict with Indian interests. In 1670, the Hudson's Bay Company
had acquifed the rights to the land of the Northwest Territories
through a Royal Charter from the King of England. This grant con-
firmed the right of possession py the Crown of any lands its sub-
jects discovered or conguered. In 1818 when the 49th parallel
was agreed upon as the international boundary between the British
Territories and those of the United States.of America, the sover-—
eignty of Britain was recognized through this vast region. Since
the Hudson's Bay Company'®s main intgreét was in fur trade and
not in settlement, it was able to acquire 1and for trading posts
without opposition from the Indians with whom it carried on trade.
The questions regarding ownership of the land became relevant prior

%0 and during the negotiations of Treaty Number Four. The discuss-

ion on the position of the Hudson's Bay Compény illustrates the

complexity of these guestionse

The Indians never accepted the notion that the title %o
their lands was wvested in the Crown by virtue of discovery or
conguest. Pascal Breland in his report of November 17, 1873,
indicated that this view was exyressed when he writes,

Alors le chef sus nommé (sio)%_accep%e au nom de
toute (illegible) les dits présents, mais qu'il les




accepte (sic) que comme prescnts9 et non & dfautre

titre ne voulant par 1la compromettre ni leurs terres

ni aucun de leurs droits, ni de leur nation. Que ceci

soit bien entendu me dit-il. 6
The Indian chief in question was Loud Voice. The Indians claimed
absolute right to the lands which they éocupied as hunting groundse
To them this right emanated from the powers of the Great Spirit.

The Canadian government claiqu the right‘of jurisdiction
over all Indisn lands in the Northwest. The Indians could dispose
of their lands only through fhat government by virtue of its
purchease of the Territories ffbm the Hudson's Bay Company in
18691

When the Indians persisted in discussing the Hudsonﬂé Bay
land grant at QutAppelle, Alexander Morris stated unequivocally
that the land belonged to the Queen and that she céuld dispoée
of it a8 she saw filte. At the opening of thg third day's confer

ence, he saidy; ®. . o 8ll the ground here is the Queen’s.”

During the negotiations on the fourth day, he stateds

6Morris Papers, Lieutenant Governor's Collection, November
17, 1873¢ PohelMo

7A precedent had been established by the Royal Proclamation
of 1763. See Shortt and Doughty, Documents Relating to the Con-
stitutional History of Canadas Vol. I, Ottawa, King's Printer,
1907 9 Po 167 °

8Provincia1 Committee on Minority Groups, Chairman,
Premier T. C. Douglas, The Treaties, March, 1961, pe 18,




If the Queen gives them (the Hudson's Bay Company)

land to hold under her, she has a perfect right to

do so, just as she will have a perfect right to lay

off lands for you if you agree 1o settle on them. 9
He was referring to the Hudson's Bay land reserve which that
company was to receive as part settlement for surrendering its
rights in the Northwest in 1869. The Cémpany had proceeded to
survey their lands before the Indians had been treated with in
1874,

The Indians, knowing that the Company had also received a
large sum of money in the settlémanﬁg adamantly refused to discuss
any question before resolving the Hudson's Bay Company land policye.
The Gambler, a Saulteaux of the Fort Bllice areé and one of the
main representatives, stated that the disturbing issue was the
surveying done by the Company which had not received the Indians®
consent to take the reserve. Upon refusing to discuss any other
issue he saids "I camnot manage to speak upon anything elses

- when the land was staked off, it was all the company's wqug"lo
The Indian chief stated that he did not know when the land was
surveyed and wanted to know if the Hudson's Bay Company had done

it. Commissioner Morris avoided the survey questions by claiming

that he was not aware that the Hudson's Bay Company had done any

surveying and that he had found out at Qu'Appelle that the surveying

9Provincia1 Commitiee on Minority Groups, Chairman, Premiex
T. Co Douglas, The Treaties, March, 1961, p. 2le

10pid., pe 216




nad been authorized by the Queenell

The Indians recognized that the Hudson's Bay Company was
indispensable to them and that they had traded with it success-
fully, but when it came to the land question their spokesmen
sontinued to vent sirong feelings against the Company. The
Gambler accused it of outright thievery and of being authoritarian.
As he saids

The Company have stolen our land. The Queen's

messengers never came here, and now I see the

soldiers and the setilers. and the policemen. I

know it is not the Queen's work, only the Company

has come and they are the head, they are the

foremosts 12
Although the facts do not completely substantiate the quotationg
it nevertheless indicates the feelings of the Indians. When
Iieutenant Governor Morris querieds “What did the company steal

13

from you?" 7, fhe Gembler answereds "The earth, trees, grass,

stones, all that which I see with my eyese“14 The Indians d4id

not recognize some of the terms of the agreement of 1870 whereby
the Hudson's Bay Company received land in return for the termine-

ation of its two hundred year old charters.

llIt seems that Morris deliberately deceived the Indians
on this point because it was common knowledge that the Hudson's
Bay Company land reserves and other parts of the Northwest not
yet ceded by these Indians had been surveyed by 1874. To the
Indians, size was not the issue; but rather the authorization of
the grante.

lzProvincial Comnittes on Minority Groups, op. cit, pe 22

31p14., pe 22,

estwaremcrmy

M1pide, pe 220

pammoteetheed
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Morri59 to meet the Indian argument, stated that the Great

Spirit, the maker of the earth, made the land for all to use alike.

Then, he claimed, the Queen held the right 1o the lands under ‘the

Great Spirit. Since the Crees had willingly shaved their lands

with the newly-arrived Saulteaux, and since these tribes were
willingly accepting the Half-Breeds, did it not follow that the
Buro-Canadians should also be welcomed? As Morris put its
Phere were other Indians here and the Chippewas came
here, and they used the wood and the land, the gifts
of the Great Spirit to all, and we want to try and
induce you to believe that we are asking for the good
of all. 15
Morris? main objective was 1o acqﬁire the Indian lands, pléce
the Indians on reservations, and open their lands to settlement
under'a completely different sysiem of land holding. Generally,
the Dominion land policies such as the homestead sysiem and the
Hudson's Bay Company land grant system excluded the.Indians@
Pasqua stated that the Indians wanted the 300,000 that
had been paid to the Hudson Bay. This was the last argument
presented by the Indians on the land gquestion during the fourth
day without getting any commiiment from the Queen's representativae.
Morris merely promised them that they would be dealt with justlye.
The Indians also attempted to mske the Commissioner sign

an agreement which would have restricted the activiity of {the

Hudson's Bay Company to its posis, bul Morris would hear nothing

15Provinoial Committee on Minority Group39 opPe_city pe 226




of the kind. He contended that the Hudson's Bay Company had
trading rights in the Northwest Territories and that he could

not change their position since their rights were "“written with
a higher hand than ours, and we have not power to write anything,
or to add anythinge to what is written and remains in the Queeﬁss
house beyond the seae"16

The Indians did not actually question the trading rights
of the Company, but they were highly displeased with the land
grants. When Morris repeated that the Indians would suffer if
no agreement were reached because of a itrivial question like the
Hudson's Bay Company land question, the Indians yielded to the
Lieutenant Governor's wishes. It was, in fact, anything but a
trivial matter —— the ﬁatter had been sensed as highly significant
by the Indian leaders, but they allowed it {o go by default.

The negotiations of the Qu'Appelle Treaty clearly indicate
that the federal government did not recognize the absolute owner-
ship of the land by the Indian tribes. Why then did government
officials deem it necessary to carry out the treaty?

In 1874, the Plains tribes, in particular the Plains Crees
and the Blackfootl, were considered powerful and warlike, their
lands would soon be in great demand, and Canada, a relatively

17

weak nation, was in no position to risk war with these tribes.

16Provincia1 Committee on Minority Groups,; op. city pe 26.

17Macdonald Papers, Charles Bell Report, April 14, 1874,
Po 1Ty PehoCo Ao Morris also maintained this view in letter to A
Campbell, Minister of Justice. DSee llorris Papers, Ketcheson Collec—
tion’ October 189 1873a PoAsMo
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Most government officials felt that treaties in the Northwest
Territories would meet their objectives. The Canadian government,
as representative of the Crown, claimed jurisdiction and ownership
of the Northwest Territories, its officials always conceded to the
Indians the right to occupancy of the solle

If the Indians possessed onl& the right of occupancy and
the actual ownership of the lands was vested in the British Crown,
then one may say that the Indians received presents, reserve lands,
annuities and other gifts as “token of their general good conduct
and behavioure"18 Although the Indians claimed absolute owner-
ship of their lands, they were merely surrendering forever the

right to occupy the vast regions which already fell under the

Jurisdiction of the federal government. It was a right already

being usurped by setilers.

Commissioner Morris never admitted that he was purchasing.
land by treaty. His basic approach throughout the negotiations
was that the Queen knew the plight of her red children, that she
was concerned with their present and future state and was pre-
pared to treat them liberally and Justly. At the first day's
conference he stateds

The Queen loves her Red childrens; she has always been

Trionds with themy she knows that it is hard for them
to livey, and she has always tried to help them in the

IBProvinoial Committee on Minoiity Groupsy; 0P. cite po 336
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other parts of the Dominione.
This type of general promise was used constantly. It was always
a question of the Queen wishing to do something for the good of
her red children through her liberality and generosity. When the
Indian chiefs tried to make him be specific, he managed to evade
their questions. Kan-oo-ses, a Cree from QutAppelley, during the
last day's conference asked him the following questionss

Is it iruebyou are bringing the Queen's kindness? Is

it true you are bringing the Queen's messenger's kind-

ness? Is it true you are going to give my child what

he may use? Is it true you are going to bring the

Queen's hand? Is it true you are bringing the Queen's

power? 20

Morris answered such questions very evasively by saying,
“"Yes, to those who are here and those who are absent such as she
has given us@“z1 When the Indian chief asked him if his children
would be taken care of if in need, he said,; "The Queen's pover
will be around him@"zz The Indians, apprehensive of their
future, wanted the assurance that something concrete would be

done for their welfare, but Morris would not commit the Queen

beyond the specific promises that he made.

19Provincia1 Committee on Minority GroupsS,; ODPs ciles pe‘lée
Morris used the word 'Queen®! to present a concrete figure to the
Indians. Constitutionally, treaties had to be carried out in the
name of the Crown. DMorris was thus able to present his negotiations
on behalf of & person whom the Indians seemed to hold in high es-
teem and at the same time fulfill the legal requirements.

201pid., pe 296

lebido 9 Pe 29,

s

22}:bide9 Pe 29
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The Indians were assured of a limited supply of far%ing,
implements and livestock once they sottled on their reserves.
Their hunting and fishing rights were to be honoured. on their
ceded lands as long as these remaincd unocoupied. The Quecen's
negotiator claimed that the Queen was anxious to have her ‘'red
children® eventually learn the tcunning’ of the white mang it was

imperative that & school system be established to 'elevate’ the

Indians to a ‘higher’ oivilizationez3 Therefore a school was

promised to the Indians as soon as they setiled on reserves and
were prepared for & teacher. No other specific details were

24

givene.
To help the Indians sustain themselves through hunting
and fishing during the transitional period, the government
promised them a limited quantity of goods such ag shot, twine,
and powder. Originally, Morris promised the group of natives
who agreed to the treaty terms one thousand dollars to be paid
annually for twenty yearSe25

The cash payment of annuities, a practice borrowed from

the Americans, was guaranteed to the Indians forevere26 Annuities

23Provinoia1 Committee on Minority Groups,; Ope Cite

241pid, po 20

emR—C———

25Alexander Morris was able to reduce this sum to $750
claiming that the Indians of the Northwest Angle had received the
sum of $1,000 as they were more numerouSe Morris! action indicates
that he was ready to sacrifice the interests of the Indians in
order to reach the best possible terms for his superiorse.

26The annuities were considered as part of & civilizing
influence as the Indians were supposed to learn how $0 usSe CurTencye
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were nominal sums of money paid to the rank and file and the.
Indian chiefs. Besides higher annuities, the chiefs and headmen
were told that they would receive a sult every three years.

At the negotiations, the Indians requested higher paymenis
than those given to the Saulteaux at the Northwest Angle Treaty,
but Morris olaimed that it was not fair for them %o request more
then what had been given to their kindred to the east. UMorris
asserted that he himself would apply to become an Indian if their
demands could be granted. By claiming‘that the government had
used the Saulteaux land to the east for four years without paying
for it and by stating that only 2,000 Indians were represented at
'Qn”Appelle in comparison to 4,000 at the Northwest Angle, Morris
was able to cénvince the Indians to settle for less.

Prior to 1873, the government had intended to pay the

Indiens more for their lands, but the Ninister of the Interior

rad received correspondence from the United States Deparitment
. of the Interior indicating the relatively low settlement that
the American government had effected with their Indians.2! Upon
receipt of these letters the department advised Morris to bargain
Por a low settlemente.

Morris told the Indians during the negotiations that
"ihe Government will try to prevent fire-water from being sent

among youa“28 He also stated that the Queen had sent her policemen

2Tyorris Papers, Letter from the Department of the Interiory
Washington; D.C. sent 1o the Canadian government, July 26, 1873 A
telegram concerning the same matter was sent Augusi 4, 1873 PohA.ll

28Provincial Committee on Minority Groups,; Op. ciles Pe 18.
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to protect her red children. The fact is that the police force
escorted the negotiators so that the Indians would be held in
check. During the negotiations whén the Indians pla&ed some
warriors in the negotiating tent, the Commissioners retaliated by
29

placing their own guard there as a show of force.

The specific promises made to the Qu'Appelle Indians were

so meagre that they did not reflect the general objectives and

promises stated by the Queen's Commissioner. Lieutenant Governor
Morris, acting on the advice of his superior in Ottawa, attempited
to get the Indians® signatures as cheaply as possible. In order
to do that he charmed the Indians by claiming that,yhe and the
Queen had only the Indians' good at heart.

Actually, responsible government had been established in
Canadaj Morris held his position at the pleasure of the Canadian
government and it was this government which had the greatest
interest in making the Indians believe that they were about to

exchange their lands for means of achleving a new way of life.

29In requesting a police force Morris said it would be
required to keep Indians at peace during negotiations. According
to an eye-witness report of unknown authorship, the police removed
foreiblys, Co Racette, a Half-Breed who claimed to be a leader of the
Assiniboine Indians from Fort Pelly and who attempted to influence
the Indians negatively. »




CHAPTER II
THE TERMS OF THE TREATY

Ao Analysis of the Treaiy®

There were four main aims stated in thé treatys 1) the de-
sire of the Queen to use the land surrendered for whatever purpose
she desired such as settlement and tradeg 2) the wish to obtain
- Indian consent for such designsi 3) the need for peace and
treatys and, 4) the wish to notify the Indians, "of what allow=
ance they are to count upon and receive from their Majesty's
bounty and benévolencee"1

The Commissioners were very careful in describing exactly
the boundaries of the surrendered teriitoriesg that is,

Commencing at a point on the United States
frontier due south of the Norithwestern point

of the Moose Mountains, thence due north to

said point of said Mountains, thence in a north-
easterly course 1o a point two miles due west

of Fort Bllice, thence in a line parallel with
and two miles westward from the Assiniboine River
40 the mouth of the Shell River, thence parallel
40 the said River, and two miles distance therefrom,
{0 its sourcej thence in a straight line to a
point on the western shore of Lake Winnipegosis
due west from the most northern extremiiy of
Waterhen Lake, thence east to the centre of Lake
Winnipegosis, thence northwardly through the
middle of the said lake (including Birch Island)
to the mouth of Red Deer River, thence wesitwardly
and southwestwardly along and including the said

1Provincial Committee on Minority Groupsy; ope. cites Pe 326

*
See Appendix VI for the text of Treaty Number Four.




Red Deer River and ites lakes, Red Deer and
Btoimami, to the source of its western branchy
thence in a straight line to the source of

the northern branch of the Qu'lAppelle, thence
along and including said streams to the forks
near Long Lake, thence along and including the
valley of the west branch of the Qu'Appelle,
thence along and including said river to the
mouth of the Maple Creek; thence southwardly
along said creek to a point opposite the west-
ern extremity of the Cypress Hillsj; thence ‘
due south to the international boundarys thence
east along said boundary to the place of
commencement. 2

Over five and three quarter million acres were surrendered. What
the Indians were surrendering‘ﬁas very explicit, "yield us to the

Government of the Dominion of Canada for Her Majesty the Queen

and her successors forever, all their righits, titles and Privi-

@"3 At the negotiations,

leges, whatsoever to the lands o o o
Commissioner Morris carefully avoided the name ‘Government of‘the
Dominion of Canada'. It is clear, however, in the preamble that
Morris was negotiating for the Canadian government and not for

4

the Queen. The words ‘forever® and twhatsoever?! made it
abundantly clear that the natives could not go back on their
word and could not claim any right to any part of the ceded land

in the future. Not only did the Indians agree to surrender their

2Provincial Commitiee on Minority Groups; OPe cites Do 33y

3Ibide 9 DPe 33.

4The distinction subsequently made some difference when
4he Indians attempted to negotiiate with the Governox General whom
they recognized as the Queen's representative. He, howevexr, had
no authority to implement policies on their behalfe
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rights to the land encompassed within the given boundaries, but
they agreed to yield any rights "whatsoever to all other lands
wheresoever situated within Her Majesty's Northwest Territoriese“5

Bventually the only right the Indians were to have to land
would be the reserves to be set aside on their behalf by the
Queen through her Commissioners. In Treaty Number Three, the
commissioners promised “to lay aside reserves for farming lands"6
and for their benefit. These reserves were to equal 640 acres
per family of five. In Treaty Number Four this.olause was less
explicit.e The same amount of land was to be reserved, but the
purpose of these lands was not defined.

In Treaty Number Three the reserves, approved by Government
representatives, were to be "set aside where it shall be deemed
most convenient and advantegeous for each band or bands of
Indianse“7 No such open clause in favour of the Indians is to
be found in the subsequent treaty. Here the commissioners were
10 choose the location of the reserve after consulting the Indians
to be affected. This clause in effect gave government officials
the right to make the final decision in locating a reserve. The
Indians could only suggest where they wished to reside. With

the question of school lands, Hudson'’s Bay Company reserves, and

5Provinoia1 Committee on Minority Groups,; 0pe ciltey Do 33e

GIbidey Po 12,

7Ib1de 9 Do 12,
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the Canadian Pacific Railway land grants, this indeed becane an

important clause as the choice of reserve losation by the Indians
would become resiricteds,

At the Qu'Appelle Treaty, the settlers' right to a piece
of land was also guaranteéd against Indian claims. The clause
"Her Majesty retains the right to deal with such settlers (that is,
settlers within the boundaries of reserves) as she shall deem just,
80 as not to diminish the extent of lands allotted to the Indianssw8
Justice meant in practice that the settlers would stay where they
were whether they were squatters or noty and the Indians would
have to go eslsevhere.

The government retained the exclusive right to purchase
or expropriate any part of the reserves for any public works of

whatever nature. The government promised only due compensation

of "an equivalent in land as money for the area of the resérve 80

appropria‘ted.e“9 The iand could also e sold "for the use and
benefit of the said Indianse"lo This clause meant that the land
could be taken from the Indians and sold for a price which the
Indians were not in a position to determine. Although the monies
to be received from such sales were supposed to be invested or

expended on behalf of the natives, land alienated from the Indians

8Provincia1,Committee on Minority Groups; op. cites pe 336

2 Tbides pe 3de

1OIbide 9 DPe 33e
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was not generally done for their benefit. From the Indians' point
of view this clause was misleading.

Although the Canadian government agreed to compensate the
Indians for their alienation from their reserve lands, these lands
were merely held in trusi for them by the Queen. The ferms of
this treaty on the reserve land question recognized Indian title
4o the land no more than the Dominion government had recognized
their ownership'of their paternal landse

Hunting and fishing rights‘were granted to the Indlians
subject to govermment regulations and the need of the areéas used
by the Indians for mining or other purposes. These terms were so
general and indefinite that the Indians’ rights were subsequently
highly restricted by legislation. For instance, the Indians were
not excluded from fishing regulations if they wished to carry on
commercial fishing, Fishing privileges in effect applied only to
the customary small scale fishing as carried out by the Indianse.

It was proposed in 1873 by government officials not to

'provide "such expensive presents as farming animals, agricultural

implements, and waggonse"l1 The commissioners agreed to supply

the Indians with certain implements, dradght animals and cattle
as soon as they had started to work the land on the reserve. It

was generally conceded that the buffalo would not last very long,

and the government would have either to feed the Indians or %o make

llMorris Papers, Liecutenant Governor's Collectiion, Junev5§
1873, Poh.Mo
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agriculturalists of them. Lieutenant Governor Archibald, who
originated the supply of farming implements to the Indians, signéd
an affidavit stating that these items were to remain the property
of the Canadlian government.* Contrary ito Indian belief, these
goods were not their proper'tyel2

One of the difficulities in the distribution of these im-
plements was in their use by several band members. For exampley
the Chief was responsible for distributing a plough among ten
families. The Indians were dissatisfie& because they were re-
huired to settle down before they could acquire implementgs
Although the government in many cases distributed more catile,
oxen, and implements per band than requiréd by treaty, there wers
still too few implements for successful farming.*¥*

There were two main annuities to be paid to the Indianss
those paid to each member of the band and those paid to the chiefs
and their headmen. Since Morris agreed that the annuities to be
paid under Treaty Numbef Four ought to be similar to those of
Treaty Number Threey; one ought to consider the factors involved
in reaching the figures under Treaty Number Three.

The terms of Treaty Number Two, an Order-in-Council of August,

1873, and information received from the Depariment of Interior of

lgBy treaty negotiations, the Indians were under the im-
pression that the implements were to be given as compensation.
Since they were merely on lease, much confusion subsequently arose.

*3ee Appendix VII.

e
See Appendix VIIIe




36

the United States government were the main determining factors
whieh convinced the Canadian government officials to pay the
nominal sum of five dollars per head per annum. Subsequently,
two dollars were added to satisfy the Indian claim of outside
promises. This sum was used for Treaty Number Three,

A. Campbell, Minister of the Interior, advised Lieutenant
Governor Morris that an Order-in-Council at Ottawa gave 'the
Commissioners power to go as high as $15.,00 per head as cash
payments, and as high as $79001per head as an annuity to each
Indiane"13

On July 18, 1873, H. Spragge, Superintendent of Indian
Affairs, requested information from the United States government
regarding the payment of annuities and presents to the Indians.

The Indiens in question were the Chippewas residing from the Lake

Supérior region to Pembina, in what is now Minnesota and North

Dakota. The answer given on July 31, 1873 shows that the figures

were relatively lows For exanple, the commissioner states that
the Red Lake and Pembina bands were 1o receive one hundred
thousand dollars and annuities of five thousand dollars during the
pleasure of the President and goods for eight and four thousand
dollars were to be given to the bands respectively for fifteen
yeafse In other words, the letiter sent to‘the Canadian government

did not spell out the treaties in their entirety.

3Morris Papers, Ketcheson Collection, Alexander Campbell
to Alexander Morris, August 5, 1873. P.A.M,
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To get more information about the payment of annuities
Ho Spragge telegramed Ho P. Clum, the acting American Commissioner
of Indian Affairs. Subsequently the following information was

receiveds

NUMBER IN ' AVERAGE PAYMENT
BAND BAND ANNUITIES PER HEAD

Lske Superior 1195 $12,000 $10.87
Bois Fort 5125 11,000 2010
Red Lake 1078 15,000 9,00

Penbina 547 | 14

Comparing the information sent from Washington in the letters
referred to above and the actual terms of the three treaties involved,
the information is extiremely misleadinge For example, large sums
of money (330,000 for the Bois Fort Band) were given to the In-
dians ae cash settlements. Provisions were also made for construc-

tion of schools and houses for the chiefs, the supply of & blacgk=

smith, teachers, and a saw mill.

The Minister of the Interior interpreting the figures he
received from Washington as being much lower than those of the
Order-in-Council wanted

To impress sirongly upon the Commissioners the
nocessity of using every effort to secure if
possible a satisfactory Treaty on more favorable
ternms then the maximum figures mentioned in the
Order-in-Councile. 15

14Morris Papers, Lisutenant Governor's Collection, letter
to He Spragge from He. Po Clumy August 9, 18730 Poholls

15Morris Papers, Ketcheson Collection, letter from AleX=
ander Campbell to Alexander Morris, August 14, 1873 PohA.Mo
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This directive reinforced the Minister's views stated previously
that the Commissioners ought to keep the annuities to a level
comparable to those of Treaty Number Three %o avoid jealousies
between the various Indians. Campbell also stated that an ex-
cessive settlement would raise the expectations of the Indians
yet to be treated in the Northwest. Morris was able to convince
the Indians to sign for terms most favourable to the government.
The annuities to be paid to the Chiefs and their headmen |
were the same in amount as those of the counterpart Northwest
Angle. The Chiefs and headmen of the Northwest Angle wers to
receive an annual salary of twenty-five dollars per annum9 and

each subordinate officer, not exceeding three for each band,

shall receive fifteen dollars per a.nnums"l6 The Chisefs and

headmen of Treaty Number Four were not to enjoy the same statuse
The annuities of twenty-five dollars to a chief and fifteen
dollars per headman to a maximum of four headmen %o a2 band, were
to be given as gratuities. The most important difference was
that they were not to be considered employees of the Crowne.

In matters of law, the Indians promised to become law-
abiding citizens. Specifically theytagreed not to molest any
individual who would occupy their ceded lands. The government
was committed to keep liquor out of reserve lands. The liquor
law was to be applicable to the Indians both on and off the

TEeBeIVEeS.

16Provincial Committee on Minority Groupss 0p. cite.s Pe 16s
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Treaty Number Pour gave unilateral power to the Canadian
government to implement it or change some of its terms. The
government was able to interpret the terms of the treaty by
passiﬁg legislation which gave its agencies the power to imple—
ment its treaties., For example, the treaty stated that the In-

dians could choose the location of their reserves with the consent

of the Superintendent General of Indian Affairsj yet not one Cree

chief was permitted to settle in the southern part of Saskatchewane
In the matter of annuities, Indian agents could withhold such pay-
ments for various reasons or allegations. Not a single clause wags
left to interpretation by the Indians. No proviéions were  made

for arbitration in the case of disagreement between the two con-
tracting parties. Provisions were made to bind the Indians by

law to carry out their obligations, but no such laws stated how

the Canadian government éould be compelled to fulfill its obli-
gations.

Thirteen Chiefs representing some of the Cree, Saulteaux,
and Assiniboine Indians of the Southern region of {the Northwest
Territories,; now comprising southern and western Manitoba, signed
the treaty on September 15, 1874. They represented about five
thousand souls. Subsequently, it was necessary to obtain the
adherence of the remaining bands who were not present at the

negotiations and to make provisions for the consolidation of the

Sioux Indians who had migrated north after the Hinnssota War of
1862, Upon his return to Winnipeg, Morris was able to acquire the

adherence of the Saulteaux Chiefs in the Fort Ellice area.




Va=-wa-se=ca~-pow and Ota-ma=koo-~ewin signed on behalf of thelr
people.

In 1875, commissioners Christie and Dickieson, assigned to
pay the annuities to the Indians of Treaty Four,; were able %o
secure the signatures of six more Saulteaux and Assiniboine Indian
Chiefs. The Indians made demands greater than allowed under the
treaty, but were told "that if they declined to accept the terms
of the treaty wev(the commissioners) must return and report to |
the Government that they had broken the agreement they had made

wl?

last year. The Chiefs claimed that they thought the signing

which took place between Moriis and the other chiefs in 1874 .was

only a preliminary to the actual signing of the treaty. After
several days' negotiations Chee-Chuck agreed to sign on September
8, 1875, and the other five chiefs present at these negotiations
signed the following day.

The Bgg Lake Band from the northeastern part of the Terri-
tories refused to sign the treaty at the outset. This band,
like several others, considered the treaty terms insufficient and again
refused to confirm its agreement to & treaty in 18759’ W; Jde |
Christie, in his annual report for that year states, "We, however,
took the opportunity of warning them, that although they had not

accepted the terms of the treaty they were subjeét to the laws

170&1’13(1&_1 Sesgsional Paﬂersg Noe. 99 18769 part 19 pPo XRIIo
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as were all other inhabitants of the'countrye“lB It was not until
1876 that this band agreed to sign its adherence %o Treaty Number
Four.

The majority of the Assiniboines who claimed as their hunte
ing grounds the region between the Cypress Hills and Wood Moun-
tains east to west and the South Saskatchewan to the Milk River
north to south did not agree to the treaty until the late 1870'8919
Most of the Asainiboines were south of the boundary line or in the

far wost in 1874, In 1877, it was reported that only forty-four

lodges had been paid and that one hundred and forty-five lodges

had not signed a treatyeao Among the most prominent Assiniboine

Tndian Chiefs to sign an agreement were Long Lodge and Poor Mane

In 1877, the official records showed that Inspector Walsh had

21

signed and committed about 600 Assiniboines to Treaty Number Foure
With the signing of an adhesion to Treaty Four by the Assiniboines,
most of the Indians were considered Treaty Indians within the

boundaries described in the Qu'Appelle Treaty.

IBCanada9 Sessional Papers, No. 9, 1876, Part I, p. XXII.

191p1d., pe XXIVo

onhis information was taken from Major Walsh's report

dated October 28, 1877. (Canada, Sessional Papers, No. 10y 1878,
po XXXI. A lodge generally consisted of about 8 = 10 peoplee

21Ibido




'Be Interpretation of Treaty Number Four

In 1874 when the Qu'Appelle Treaty was signed, A. Morris!®
dream of an extension of the British Empire into the Northwest
was in an embryo stage. MNorris had expressed well the ambition
of the eastern expansionist when he said he foresaw the West
settled by & three strand rope, that is by the English, the Scoits
and the Irishe1 True, westward expansion would not be carried
out by only these three groups, but wesiward expansion with white
settlers of any kind who would bﬁy up the land was already a

reality in Manitoba and parts of the Territories.

In the next ten years settlement would spread deep into the

West, particularly in the feritile belt of Saskatchewangz Within
a decade the railroad, termed the greatest conveyance of civile
ization, would stretch deep into the West, a land which only
recently had Been Indian and buffalo country.

With the Canadian government rested the responsibility
to clear the Indians from this area. There was no need to worry
about the buffaloj; United States westward expansion and an un-

scrupulous and destructive trade had taken care of that. The

lCanadian Historical Association Report, 1928, p. 93,
Deparitment of Public Archives, Ottawas King's Printers, 1929,
"The Honorable Alexander Morris; the Man, His Work", by Lila
Staples. ‘

2Although settlement was sparse in the area under disoussion
in the 1870's and the 1880's, it was still necessary to place the
Indians on reserves. This was one way of keeping the Indians
peaceful,; a condition important in encouraging immigration to the
Canadian Northwest.
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thousands of buffalo which had roamed the Canadian plains as late
as the 1860's and which had supplied the Plain Indians with most
of their material needs yielded once more their territory to
civilizationo

In 1874, Canada was but a young nation with most of its
citizens emerging as strong exponents of creating a Canada from
coast to coast. With Manitoba entering Confederation in 1870
and British Columbia in 1871, there remained in the minds of many
Canadians only the need to fill the great vold between ihese

provinces with white settlers, people who would purchase land and

supply the eastern mills with raw materials. They would also

purchase the finished products of the eastern factories. But
the Northwest was not exactly a void as it was still ococupied
by Indianse.

The Indians had by the 1870's lost their source of food
supply on the prairiesy the small game and fish could not supporti
the Indian population, and the coming of white settlements would
leave them in a precarious pqsitione The problem was that the
Canadian people and particularly the Canadian government had o
do something with these pesople. True, they were of a different
color and took on & nebulous image of different nations, but the
fact remained that they were Canadians, the subjects of the
Canadian government but not citizens.

What Canada chose 1o do with the Indians of the Qu'Appelle
Treaty and what the Indians allowed Canada to do with them from

1874 to 1905 presents an interesting story and illustirates some
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of the policies pursued by the government and the reaction of the
Indians, a reaction which could not be expressed in positive
action because the Indians were divided, over-powered by bribefy
and liquor, and soon out-numbered by whites.

In 1867, when Canada became a nation, its politicians made
sure that responsible government was embodied in the constitutione.
*Government by the people for the people® had already become a
sacred principie and was to be maintained. For the Indians, who
were officially legislated as wards of the State in 1876, it was
more 'government by the Canadian government for the people'
because they were considered too ‘'uncivilized® to partioipate in
governments. The Indians of the Qu'Appelle Treaty were to be
administered by government officialéo Established there in 1874
" was a system of government diametrically opposed to responsible
government, that is, an oligarchy.

The Indians under Treaty Four had survived for centuries
under the band system, a loose form of political and social
organization. Under this treaty there were two main types of

Indians —— the Plains and the Woodland types. Some Crees and the

Stonies (or Assiniboines) were Plains Indians who had developed &

form of chieftain, a police force and a warrior class because the
buffalo hunt, tribal enemies, and the relatively large populations
of the Plains Indians had demanded such organizationse. The poli-
tical and social organizations of the Wopdland Cree and Saulteaux

were loss complex since they were more scatitered and fewer in num-
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ber. However, they, too, had a recognized form of leadership in

a chief or medicine man. The government alsc recognized this

leadership at the signing of the treaty in 1874, but subsequently

the Indian leadership role in the implementation of the treaty,
its terms and other Indian policies was overlooked for the most
part. Indian participation in Canadian democracy found little
room after 1874 in the Northweste Little was expected of them
in taking the initiative in carrying out treaty terms, and they
were able to do little about ite

The main aim of the Indian policy of the Canadian govern-
ment was to uproot the Indian from his primitive state in his V
hunting ground and to transplant him on a reserve where he
would learn to embrace a 'higher civilization'. This policy
would also free his land for settlers and large corporationse
For example, the Hudson's Bay Company had left large tracts of
land under the control of the Federal government which used land
as part paymeht t0 the railrosd companies who built in the North-
west. The government also sold large tracts of land to colonizing

land companies who bought up the land at opporitune times.




CHAPTER III
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE RESERVE SYSTEN
A, The Reserve Sysiem

The Reservation System was a form of isolation of Indians
from Euro-Canadian settlements. The Indians under this syétem
were supposed to be removed from +he influence of the Buro-
Canadian while they would learn to adapt to a new way of 1life
under the guidance of government officials. A sedentary exist-
ence was a totally foreign concept to the natives who were
accustomed 1o & nomadic way of life, but it was essential té the
reservation system. The Woodland Indians who had been atomistic
before the coming of the fur trade became even more S0 under the
influence of that tradeal Since the fur itrade tended to deplete
the animal life of an area, the Indians weTe compelled to flaizr
out for hundreds of square miles during most of the year in quest
of fur or food. The nomadic life of the Plains Indians was diff-

erent in that some of the time they roamed in bands after the

buffalo. They also held large gatherings in areas such as the

Qu'Appelle Lakes and the Cypress Hillse.
Because of these deeply ingrained habits of migration, it

took more than a written agreement and governmental coercion to

1Barnow, Viotor, "Chippewa Social Atomism,’ American Anthro-
pologist, Menasha, Wisconsin, Volume 53, No. 5, Part 1, 1961,
po 1006-1012, '
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effect the Indians® settlement on Treservese. 4

It took over a decade to convince the majority of Indians
to accept & reserve and it took several more years to setile them
down even partially. Ultimately it was starvation which convinced
the Plains Indians, such as the Crees and the Assiniboines,; who
nad shown the greatest reluctance to live on reserves, to accept
this mode of life.

Reserve lands were to be surveyed by government surveyors
and were to be given 1o fhe Tndians for their use. In the Indians?
understanding this land belonged %o them‘but according to the law,
the government had ocontrol of the landss2 If an Indian had im-—
proved a particular plot, he could claim sole right of occupancy
but the Crown retained the right of disposal if the Indian wished
to dispose of ite. Conmissioner Provencher explained this policy
succinctlys

Their right in the Reserve is precisely of the same

nature as that which they had before the treaty over

the whole territory, a right of undivided possession

without the power of selling or ceding it in any

manner whatever. It requires special legislation to

clothe them with the rights of full property, being
that which usually accompanies the act of emancipatione.

Tn sn official report im 1875, Commissioner We Je Christie

2Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, # 4224 T526
Undated speech of Star Blanket, presumably to the Governox General
in the early 1900%s, P.A.C.

3Cdnada, Sessional Papers, No. 8, pe 56, 1875
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indicated that only nine reserves were supposed to be surveyede4

These were all from the Northeastern part of the recently ceded
lands. Several other bands indicated that they were willing to
setile, but some of the Plains Indians such as Pia-pot and Little
Black Bear, both Cree chiefs, took considerable time to settle

on their reserves. In 1875, at least Pfive bands were not even
ready to indicate where they would like their reserves and several
others were following the buffalo in the United Statos Territories.

By 1884, most of the rescrves of Treaty Number Four had been
5 .

surveyed.
The Indians under Treaty Number Pour could have their
choice of locations for their reserves accepted by Government
officials if it did not interfere with settlers' or other claims.
Not one example can be found whers & settler was removed begause
of the Indians'® intention to settle at a particular places
Originally the Indians were not %0 be granted land near
projected Canadian Pacific Railway lines since they would
interfere with the land granting scheme. For example, Cotd's

choice of land was not approved by the surveyor for that reason.

dconada, Sessional Papers, No. 9, XXV, 1876,

SA detailed analysis of the reserves is compiled in the
text Descriptions and Plane of Certain Indian Reserves in the
Province of Manitoba and the Northwest Territories, bound by J. Le
Perkins Bookbinders Ltd., Regina, 1889. Originally compiled by
Lieutenant Governor Dewdney for the federal government. Some of the
rertinent statistics are reproduced from this book in Appendix VIII.

6Cot6 was eventually granted his reserve when it was decided
to move the Canadian Pacific Railway lines south of the QutAppelle

Valley.
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To avoid international confliocts between Canadian and American

Indians, the Department in the 1880%s decided to remove 1its Indians

to the Northeastern section of the ceded lands. During this period
not one reservation was granted to Indians in close proximity ‘o |
the international boundary or West%ard in the Cypress Hills
regions. Several bands refused to accept this plan, but govern-
ment threats, persuasion, and starvation made them Temove.

The famoﬁs Chief Pia-pots & non-hereditary Cree chiefy,
was a case in point. This chief, with a fairly large following,
was accustomed to trade at Qu'Appelle Lakes but for the most part
resided in the Cypress Hills area. In 1876, Pia-pot; who was
recognized as a chief by the Indians but not by the Hudson's Bay
Company; was reported as not being ready to meittle on & reserve
as designated by government officials near Qu'Appelle. Apparently
he was prepared to accept a reserve on the fringe of the plains
at Little Touchwood Hills, but he never did so. He and his band
continued hunting and relied on provisional help from the govern-
ment in the Cypress Hills area.

During the 1881-82 winter season he camped at Cypress Hills
from where he went to Indian Head the following summer. In 1882,
Pia-pot, before leaving Cypress Hills, had held up the construc—
tion of the Canadian Pacific Railway until a settlement was
reached. According to some sources the discussion lasted only

fifteen minutes, but a nephew of the chief, contends that the
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talk went on for three weekse

In any case, the government officials allowed him several

concessions. His people were promised free transportation on the
railway and he received several personal gifts such as a stove,
discarded Northwest Mounted Police horses and a Waggones The
chief, along with his wives and band, left for the QutAppslle
region from which he was e&entually forced to leave under military
threat and starvétione After the sixth day of hié gtay in the
flats, the Indians' habitual wintering grounds in the QufAppelle
Valley, Pia=pot's band's rations were ocut off by the Indian agent,
and the band was compelled to go to Indian Head. Finally, in 1884,
the indomitable chief agreed to reside on a reserve in the Qut=
Appelle region which was surveyed in 1886,

Pis~pot was only one of the Indian chiefs of the Plains
who refused to accept the terms of the original treaty and
submitted unwillingly %o the government policies of the time.
Bribery, in the form of personal compensations, was used to induce
many ohiefs to settle on their reserves which were to be consoli-

dated within a limited area in the northeast of the treaty area99'

7Sas]catohewa.n Historical Soclety, Watetch, pe 49, Public
Archives of Saskatchewan (Regina)e

8This information was taken from two sources in the Sask-
atchewan Archives: Wood Mountain Tales, La Fleche Press, July Ts
1932 and Piapot, Saskatchewan Historical Society, Abel Watetoh,
Po 49, PohoSe zRegina)s

9Macdona1d's Correspondence with Lieutenant Governors of
the Northwest (Dewdney), letter from Dewdney to Sir John A. Mac—
donald, August 10, 1883, P.A.S. (Regina).
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When friendly persuasions did not work, the iwo methods alluded

to above were enforceds

Although the Indians had been promised the right to desig-
nate the location of their reserves this consideration was to-
tally ignored in the removal policy carried out by the Canadian
government. The removal of the Indians from the south and the’
southwest was carried out for three main reasons -~ the easier
administration of the Indians, the pressure exerted by American

authorities, and obliteration of conflict among Indian tribes.

In the first inestance, it was felt that the Indians could remain

economically independent for a greater period of time if they

were located in the Northeast where there was supposed to be a
greater abundance of small game and fish. It was soon evident
that the area could not safely suppori the Indian population.
Within ten years from the time of the signing of Treaty Four,
Indians were dying of starvation and suffered from malnutrition
particularly during the winter months. The second reason for
removing the Indians from the south seemed to be Justified in the
early 1880's when Indians troubles involved Canada in an interna-

tional dispute with the United States governmentelo Thirdly, the

quhe Canadian government for fear of antagoniziﬁg the

American govermment obligingly removed the Indians from the

southe Appendix IX indicates the general location of the Indians
involved in Treaty Number Four. The map shows that only one
reserve had originally been granted south and west of Broadview,
Saskatchewan. The international dispute in relation to the removal
policy is discussed in section B of this chapter.




Crees were still involved in horse-stealing and raiding againsit
the Blackfoot Indians. In view of this, the Creces were to be
mbved from the Cypress Hills area to the northeastern part of the
region,

The reserves to be allocated at six hundred and forty acres
for every five persons were supposed to be given to the Indians
forever. There were only two conditions under which those lands
could be alienated from the nativess for public works and for
the benefit of the Indians. Although the Indians seldom applied
for the sale of their lands,a greai portion of thelr lands were
formally surrendered under the pretext of "their benefit'.

Interested parties such as settlers, land speculators
and railroad companies could regquest the surrender of Indian lands
et opportune times and convince governmsnt officials to act on
their behalf. A great part of the Indian reserve lands of Treaty
Number Pour were alienated for wvarious reasons by 1905. Usually
the sales benefited the Indians very little economically but
benefited the government which made a profit by selling the land
cheaply to land corporations or setilers. Usually the Indians
received only a nominal sum of money for their land which was
purchased by Indien Affeirs below the going prices.

Jurisdiction for sale of Indian lands was outlined in the
Indian Acte The Superintendent General or his designated officer’

could with the consent of the Indians sell any reserve land. By

law & majority of males over twenty-one present at a meeting under
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the direction of & government agent could surrender the land.
The proceeds of the land except for tem per cent could be invested
or placed in the Indian Band Funds.

For example, the surrender of part of Coté Reserve near
Kamsack in 1905 was described as follows by the Indian Commiss-—
ioners

I estimated that when the road allowances were taken

into account there would be about 20,000 acres in the

surrendered area; and deducting the approximate 6,000

acres in exchange, there would be about 14,000 acres

to be paid for. This quantity at $10.00 per acre

would amount to $140,000, five per cent of which would

be $7,000s The number of Indians in the band is about

250y so I arranged to pay them at $28.00 per head, with

the understanding that if any of the land sold for

more than $10.00 per acre, or if an actual survey of

the land surrendered,; or of the area to be added in

exchange, differed from the estimate made, it should

be adjusted when the second payment is made to the 1

Indians within thirty days after the sale of the lands.
Under this arrangement the government was able to invest ninety
per cent of tﬁe total revenue without having the Indians claim
that money. The direct benefits that acecrued to the Indians from
surrendered lands was extremely meagre.

As the railroads and settlements moved westward the

Indian reserves came into demand for settlement. In some cases

the railroad companies required rights of way through reserves,

This happened to Muscowequan®s band when the Grank Trunk Reilway

lll'ndifm Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter from Dawvid
Laird, Indian Commissioner to the Deputy Superintendent Ceneral
of Indian Affairs, December 26, 1905, PohoCe
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crossed their reserve diagonallyelz The railways also built town

sites on some reserves. Then 1t was just a matter of time before

the argument that Indians did not benefit from such arrangements
arose. The settlers then claimed that lands surrounding these
towns ought to be sold for the benefit of the Indians and settle=
mente Part of Coté's reserve was sold on that basis early in the
13
twentieth centurye
As land was taken up near Teserves,; settlers usually applied

pressure upon the Indian Affairs Department, their elected TE=

presentatives or upon‘the Indians themselves to sell their lands.

In the case of Pasqua's Reserve, the initial proposal had been to

purchase what was called the "broken front® sectionsel4 The

'gsections? consisted of about 500 acres which were owned partly
by the settlers and partly by the bande According to the agent
the lands “rightfully form a part of the respective farms"el5
Although the Indians refused to,sell even this small portion it

was argued that they would benefit greatly from the sale. One of

the officials of the Indian Affairs Department claimed that the-

lzlndian Affairs Doouments, Black Seriesg, letter from
Deputy Superintendent General to the Governor General in Council,
April 269 19069 PehAoCe

13Ibida9 Report from Rev. John McDougall aocting on behalf of

the Department of Indian Affeirs to the Minister of the Interior,
QOctober 11 9 19059

14Ibid@§ Mitohell's feport to the Secretary, Department of
Indian Affairs. April 4, 1900,

151bide
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interest at 10% of®$5,000, would be of great service in giving

the Indians a better working equipment and also, 1if it could be

done, in providing lumber and other building materials for the

erection of a good class of house and farm buildingse"’l6 The

Indian Agent, showing little concern for the interest of the
Indians, encountered considerable trouble in getting the consent
of the Indians. At the first meeting he reported "a majority of
eight votes out of eighteen voters",l7 but the following winter .
the bands reversed the decision with eleven voiles supporting the
original vote and sixteen opposing ite The agent distinguished
between the young progressive voters and the "old time element"@ls
blaming the latter for refusing to surrender the lend on the
grounds that they were retaliating ageinst the Agent's enforcement
of certain legislation. As he stated,

I have spent a good deal of time in trying

to overcome the opposition which latterly

developed, after the illegal dances were

prohibited, and did all in my power to support

the progressive element but could not carry

my wishes through. 19
The agent after his failure threatened the opposing Indians with

reprisals by telling them “that they must expeoct certain conse-

quences to follow as long as they persist in obstructing our

léIndian Affairs Documents, Black Series, Mitchell‘s report
to the Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs, April 44 1900y P.A.Co

17Ibido

lsIbidg

191 pide
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efforts for the advancement of the Indianso“go |
By 1902, not only the broken front sections, but several

other sections were required for settlement from Pasqua’s Reserve.
By 1905 Indian Affairs officials responded to pressures applied by
Western Member of Parliament, Mre. Ge Ae Bulyea921 The Instructor
of Indian Agencies recommended that the land be sold at eight
dollars per acre with 10% of the sale price going to the Indians

individually. The interesting notation was that the Indians who

had improved land and buildings ought to be compensated for the

same by having the actuai sun deducted from the principal. In
effect, the Indian band was to pay for the improvements of the
land of their fellow Indians. This unscrupulous device was used
extensively by Indiasn Affairs in settling its land improvement
commitmentse

Tn the same Teport the Agent suggested that about 17,000
to 21,000 acres from Muscowpetung's Reserve be given up by the
Indians, "on & seven dollar basis as there aré fewer Indiens on
this Teserve than on Pasqua's and the first payment will go further

22

individually." The basic value of seven dollars for all reserve

land plus five dollars for improved Indian land was well below the

2OIndian Affairs Documents, Black Series, Mitchell's report
4o the Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs, April 4, 1900¢ P.A.C.

211bid@, letter from G. A. Bulyea to the Deputy Minister
of the Interior, January 13, 1902,

221bid@, letter from Inspector of Indian Agencies to the

CmT—m———

Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, Ottawa, December 20, 1905.
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estimated price of twenty-five to thirﬁ& dollars per acre of
settlers?® land in the area.

Considering the facts presented by this agent, it is hard
to see that these reserves wWere to be sold for the benefit of
the Indians. The money used for the payments to the Indians fox
surrendered lands usually came from the Managément Fund which in

23 The fund

1906 had "an interest bearing balance of $170,000."
itself was made up of “a Parlismentary greant of $14,000 a year
and ten per cent of all lands and timber 58168&"24 In effecty the
sale of Indien lands ponefited the Indian Affairs Department more
then the Indieans. As D. Co Scott, the Indian Affairs Accountant
stateds

It will be seen that the last source of revenue

(sale of lands and timber) is of benefit to the

account as any increase in land sales will

enlarge the fund so that the promotion of

surrenders and sales of land is directly in the

interest of the Fund. 25
With this kind of attitude expressed by Indian Affairs officials,

it was virtually impossible for Indians to retain a good portion

of their arable lands.

As early as 1886, part of Muscowpetung®s reserve was

required. The Deputy Minister of the Interior directed a letter

23India.n Affairs Doouments, Black Series, Memorandum from
Do Co Scott to the Deputy Superintendent General, January 15, 19064P.AsCe
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to Vankoughnet, the Deputy Superintendent of Indian Affairs,
stating that settlers near Moosomin wanted to purchase the 1and‘

because

the settlers in the neighbourhood of Moosomin brought
to the Minister's attention the fact that the Indian
Reserve in question lies immediately alongside of the
CoPoRos that it would be desirable in the public
interest and in the interest of the Indians themselves
that they should be moved back six miles from

the Railway. 26

After the original purchase offer was made and Vankoughnet had .

apparently refused to ascquire the land in question, another
letter was written to the Indian Affairs Department stating
thet it was "an exceedingly undesirable thing that for nearly
twenty miles along the line of a railway there should be an
Indian Reserve if it is possible to avoid ite"27 Indian Agent
Ao MoDonald, in 1891 requested that definite arrangements be made
if the land were to be surrendered. He pointed out to his
superior that the land in question was extremely valuable to
the Indians for haying purposes and that definite planas were
required,

for as the matter stands at present the only result

of an appeal to the Indians would be an indefinite

unsettling of their minds, which would make further

transactions much more difficult, they being, as you
are aware, of a suspiloious nature. 28

26Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter from the

Deputy Minister of the Interior to L. Vankoughnet, Deputy of the
Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, March 4, 1886, P.A.Cs

27Ibid., letter from the Deputy Minister of the Interior to
L. Vankoughnet, April 15, 1886.

281bid09 letter from Indian Agent at Crooked lLake o

———

Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, Maroh 10, 1891,
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The Indians apparently held fast to their lands for in

1899 no surrender had yet been effected. The lands now required
for settlement became known as ‘excess land! since the band pop-
ulation had decreased from that of 1879 when the largest number

of Indians received their annuity. There is absolutely no indi-
cation that the Dominion government re-negotiated the land gquestion
with the Indians on that basis. It was again argued that the
Indians would benefit if settlement expanded into their ares,

but no valid reason was put forth to substantiate that claim.

In 1902, the Broadview and Whitewood residents petitioned

the government for the purchase of land from the Crooked Leke
Reserve. The Crees of Reserves Tl and T2 were "strongly opposed

w29

to surrendering any portion of thelr reserves. The opposition .
had extended long enough and was not eritieal enough that the
Indian Commissioner himself, David Laird, attempted to convince
the Indians o part with their lands which they were most reluc-—
tant to do. Laird in his correspondence +to the central office in
Ottawa quoted several chiefse.

One of them, Katahkinacoos,; a councillor of Band Tl,

opposed Laird by saying

you then (1874 at Qu'Appelle) advised our chief
and all of us to take up land and bring up our

people on the land. When our chief died he left
us instructions to look after the reserve., I am

29Indian Affeirs Documenis,; Black Series, letter from
David Laird, Indian Commissioner to the Secretary, Department
of Indian Affairs, May 6, 1902, P.A.Co




very glad you came to ask us quietly about ite I
am very pleased about it, but we cannot consent
to part with any of it. That is all I have to
say and you have heard what the others said

about it. 30

Ka-ka-wistahaw, the Chief for Band Number 72, stateds

When we made the treaty at Qu'Appells you told me to

choose out land for mysolf and now you come to speak

to me heres We were told to take this land and we

are going to keep it. Did I not tell you a long

time ago that you would come some time, that you

would come and ask me to sell you this land back

again, but I told you at that time No. 31

The views expressed by the Indian leaders were those of
the rest of the band members generally, but the will of thess
Indians to hold on to their lands tenaciously was unequal to, the
relentlsss demands of those seeking these propertiese.

In 1904, responding to further pressure from setilers,
the government again proposed to approach the Indians about the
sale of their lands adjacent to the railway. A new wedge had been
found to break up Indian resistance. David Laird referring to
the new opportunity which offered itself in July, 1904 at the
annuity payments stated,

Mr. Lash, of this office; who was in charge

of the payments, fully explained to the Indians

the benefit they would derive by surrendering a

strip of the reserve and a portion of the
proceeds received from the sale being used to

30 Indian Affairs Documents, élack Series, letter from
David Laird, Indian Commissionexr to the Secretaryg Department
of Indian Affairs, May 6, 1902 PohoCo

311bid9
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fence the Teservee.

The crux of the problem was that the neighbouring settlersf
cattle were feeding upon the Indian hay lands. DBecause this
annoyed then it was proposed that thé Indians remove and build
fences — not to enclose their cattle but to keep out the neligh-
bouring stocke

By 1906, the feeling was that at least Cowesess® band had

been led to think that a surrender of ninety-five +housand acres

would be for their benefit. Firstly, Pasqua's band had appeared

to receive a satisfactory settlement and secondly, the priest in
charge of Cowesess Reserve appeared to have collaborated with the
Agent to convince the Indians. As the Agent pointed outy
Cowesess' band are largely Roman Catholic Half-Breeds,
about 95% I should say, and the people are to a greal
extent, under the influence of the Priest, and in
spealking to that gentleman on the matter, he is of
the opinion that a surrender could be obtained if
properly handled. 33
The Indians on Ka-ka-wistakaw and Cowesess Reserves wWere

to receive five per cent of the five dollar basic price on &n

individual basis at the time of the sale plus five per cent of the

32Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter from David
Laird to Secretary, Departiment of Indian Affairs, Sepitember 30,
19045 P.A.Co

331bid@g letter from W. Graham to Honourable Frank OliveT,
June 19, 1906. Officiallys the band was considered to be made up
of Saulteaux Indianse.
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revenue Teceived by Indian Affairs upon the sale of the reserve.
Chief Le Raty, branded as a non—p?ogreasive Half-Breed; had
suggested that the Indians ought to receive full proceeds of the
lands but he was told that this was an impossibility»34

Settlement and civilization prevailed once again. Bnough
pressure had been exerted,; and votes itakem by early 1907 indicated

that all three Indian bands agreed to yield township seventeen

which was under their control. The Indians of Ochapawace,; Cowesess'®,

and Kahkewistahaw surrendered 90,000 acres. The benefits they

received were slight, but the settlers were delighted, and the
Board of Trade of the Town of Broadview lauded the Honourable Frank
Oliver, Minister of the Interior, because they felt "satisfied that
the surrender (of the Crooked Lake Reserves) of this portion of

the reserve has been accomplished by the unceasing efforts of the

VI35

Indian Department under your able direction.

34Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter from David
Laird to Secretary, Department of Indian Affairs, Ottawa, September
30, 1904, P.A.Co : ‘

35Ibid,, letter from Board of Trade of the Town of Broadview
40 the Honourable Frank Oliver, Minister of the Interior, Fsbruary
19, 1907, “




B. Relocation of Some Indians of Treaty Number Four

Until the early 1880!'s, Lieutenant Governor Dewdney
claimed that the Canadian government had adopted a policy towards
its natives that was radically different from that of the United
States towards its Indiansel In the Montana area, adjacent to the
area of Treaty Number Four, the United States had already estab-
lished reservations where the Indians were confined and compelled
to try to make & livinge

This was done primarily to accommodate settlement of a
white population relatively larger than that of the Canadian
plains region where settlement was still a dream. The Canadfan
Northwest; particularly the southern region, remained unsetiled
s0 that it was still possible for the Indians to hunt snd move
“about freely. This was, however, creating complications. The
Canadian Indians travelled unhampered across the boundary where
they were accused of interfering with their settled kinsmen or of
making depredations upon the ranchers' cattlej horse stealing alseo
ocourred between the Canadian and American Indianss and there
was always the risk of renewed hostilities between the Blackfoot

and the Plains Cree who were mainly of Treaty Four areaez

1Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter from Indian
Commissioner Dewdney to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs,
March 279 18729 P.A.Co.

QIbids, Commissioner Dewdney claimed that the Crees ought
to0 be moved north because they no longer had cause to go across the
border. The buffale was virtually extinct and the Crees had no
American relatives.
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Until this time, it had been customary for the Canadian

government to allow the Indians to choose the sites of their
reservations in their immediate locale with little interference.
Surveyed reserves became the legal abode of many bands within
Treaty Fourgibut the Indians could leafe them without inter-
ference for reasons such as hunting and fishing. The chqice of
location for a reserve became even less restricted in the
northeastern part of Treaty Four area once it was decided to move
the Canadisn Pacific Railway main line to a more southern Tregion.
This choice of location was given to bands in the Fort Ellice
area, eastward to Rolling River Reserve, near what is now
Erickson, Manitoba, northward to the Lake Winnipegosis region,
and westward to the Fort Pelly area. Those Plains Indians who
had traditionally gathered or iraded near Fort Qu'Appelle settled
along the valley.*

The Canadian government's policy as described above changed
drastically after 1882 partly because the United Stétes viewed
Canadian Indians on American soil differently than Canada viewed
American Indians on Canadian soil, and partly:because.of the
troubles of 1885e3

As a result of the Minnesota War of 1862 and Custer's |

Jars, & large number of Sioux Indians sought refuge in the Canadian

3Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, dispatch to Acting
Indian Agent at Fort Walsh from E. Dewdney, February 22, 1882,
PohoCo '

*
See Appendix IX.




Northwest. British authorities in the Northwest were not prepared
to deport the first group of refugees nor were they prepared to
fight them. These Indians were granted asylum under internationai
law and subse@uently the Canadian govermment granted them the

4

rights of citizenship by Order-in-Council in 1873." The right

{0 remain in Canada was also granted to the Siocux coming into

Canada in 1876 alihough most of them were encouraged to return to

the United States. The Canadian government appropriated $2,000.00
for Be. A Legaré for his efforts in convincing Sitting Bull to
leave Canadaes
Subsequently, the Sioux Indians remaining in Canada were
given small reserve lands in Manitoba and the Northwest Territories
in what is now Saskatchewan. A& small group settled as far east as
Portage La Prairie at Sioux Villagee6
In 1881, the United States government requested that
Indians from‘the Canadian Northwest be kept north of the boundary.
The United States alleged depredations and thisvery by the

Canadian Indians prior to 1881, but during that year, they

complained of "the crossing of the border by Canadian Indians on

4Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, Memorandum by A.
B. Ste LouiSy ArChiViBtg September 49 19519 P.A.Ce

5Sif‘ton Papers,Vol. 265, peo 492=94, letter to Honourable
Walter Scotts Me Po from J. McKenna, Indian Affairs Office, Ottawa,
April 309 19010 P.A.Co

6Laviolett69 G.y The Sioux Indians in Canada, Regina,; The
Marian Press, 1944, p. 114. This book contains interesiing in-
formation on the history of this tribs in Canada.
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their way to drive the buffaloes away from the Agency Indians of
the United Statese"7 Although the Canadian government argued
that this was not an infraction of international law, it neverthe=
less suggested that the government would co-operate in any plan to
avoid incursions by the Indians from Canada. In 1882, Fred
Frelinghuysen advised Lionel Sackville West, British Minister in
‘Washington, that the United States government had decided to use
military force'to compel its Indiens to remain on their side of
the boundary line and that it expected the Canadian government
would keep its Indians north of the borders,

The Governor General's recommendation was that the Indians
be allowed to cross the boundary for hunting and vigiting pure
poses with the use of individual permits. The Governor General

was of the opiniom that only individual offenders should be

arrested and that the good Indians ought to be allowed to huni

and visit freely. He also thought that the United States® policy

of dealing with whole tribes in these matters was not necessary

or jueteg

Tt is with this policy in view that the Canadian authori-

7Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter from Ao
Campbell, Acting Minister of the Interiors p. 2, Septomber 13,
1881, P.A.Co

8Ibid09 lettor from Fred Frelinghuysen, American Secretary

o—c—cH

of State to Lionel Sackville West, February 25, 1882,

9Ibid°9 dooument number 28, 748-1, Re Ge 10, Vol. 3739
undated correspondence from the GovernoT General's Seocretarys
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ties refused to enter into a Canadian-American agreemcnt similar
to the "agreement between the United States and Mexioco providing
for reciprocal crossing of the international boundary line by the
troops of the respective Governmfients in pursuit of savage
Indianso“lo

Indien Commissioner Dewdney conoluded by saying that such
an agreement would be unacceptable because there were "no oir-
cumstances which should warrant such exceptional measures being-
now taken."ll Dewdney was in favour of the permit system for the
Blackfoot Indians west of Treaty Number Four area who hunted and
visited with theif kindred to the south. He felt likewise about
the Assiniboines but thought that the Crees, who no longer had any
reason to go southjsought not %o be included in & permit system
and ought to be encouraged to move northel2 The United States
government seems to have been unresponsive to the plan as it was
never instituted. Possibly they did not want to make exceptions
to anyons, including foreign Indians, to enter Indian territory

in NMontanae

In March, 1882, Frelinghuysen complained to Licnel Sack-
ville West, that twelve hundred Indians had interfered with

American Indian Reservations in the Montana Territory. Since

1OIndian Affairs Documents, Black Series, Report of &
Committee of the Privy Council, July 24, 1883, p. 4¢ P.A.Coe

liIbid_e s Po 26

lzlbidey dispatch 1o Acting Indian Agent at Fort Walsh

from B, Dewdney, February 22, 1882.
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the American government had been forced to feed these Indians, one
can understand the United States government's threat of teking dire
action by removing "the intruding Indiens by force, breaking up
their camps and sending them across the frontiera"13

Because of the American demand that Canada restrain its-
Indians from crossing the bvorder, the coming of the raiiroad to
Cypress Hills, the imminence of immediate settlement, and the
lack of a desert-like area for Indians in southern Saskatchewany
the Canadisn authorities intensified their removal policy so éhat
most Cree Indians were cleared from the south by 1883,

The Canadian government had persistently claimed that the
Northwest Mounted Police could have co-operated with the United
States authorities in the West to control illegal acts commitied
by Indians om either side of the border, but eventually it adopted
the policy that was enunciated by an Order-in-Council on April
24, 1882,

that those Indians having now returned to the United

States, Your Excellency is awere that the policy of

urgently prossing our Indians to leave the frontier

and settle on reserves provided for them woell in the

interior, ies being pursued with increased vigor, and

with good hopes of success. 14
The Canadian government again expressed the hope of the Indians?

freedom to oross the line be recognized.

The removal policy was originally applicable to the Crees,

13Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter from
Prelinghuysen to Saskville West, March 29, 1882, P.A.C.

14115d., April 24, 1884,
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but subsequently included the Assiniboines although some wers

permitted to have a reserve well south of the Canadian Pacifie
Railway main line, a privilege not enjoyed by the Crees.* At
first it was contended that the Crees no longer had any need to
cross the boundary for reasons given previously -—— & proposition
not completely accepted by Big Bear. In 1882, he proposed to
visit Montana with a large group of Cree Indians for hunting |
purposes. Lt was under these circumsiances that Frelinghuysen
from the Department of State in Washington warned Lidnel Sackville
West that the President had authorized the use of military force .
against the Indians and confiscation of their propertyels

In 1883, such astion was taken egainst forty-seven Cree
Indians whose horses were confiscated and ocarts burned. They were
subsequently escorted out of the United States near Fortd Halsh
and warned "that on no pretext whatsoever must any Cree Indians
re-cross to this side (American) of the line, that if found in
Montana hereafier they would be considered thieves, and be severely
punishede"l6 These actions were accepted by the Canadian govern-
ment since the Indians had been warned of the consequences should

they cross the lines

It was in 1883 that the Assiniboines, like the Crees, were

lsIndian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter from F.
Frelinghuysen to L. S. West, June 19, 18824 P.AoCo

161bida9 letter from Commanding Officer, H. H. Adams to

wnn—z

Lisutenant R. F. Bates, May 30, 1883,

*See Appendix IXo.




compelled to go north@l7

After 1885, several hundred Indians sought refuge in the
United States where they were allowed to stay for several years
but subsequently deported on grounds of thievery and depredations
The Governor of Montana described the situation thuss

In default of a reservation and the restrictions of

the Federal Government, they (the Crees) have been an

intolerable nuisance, constantly violating our game

laws, foraging upon our herds, and not infrequently
looting isolated cabins. 18

Some of the Cree Indians who had sought refuge after 1885 and ”
who had been joined by acquaintances becane known as the Montana
Landless Indians. TFrom this group & number of families were
deported in July, 1896, Twelve of these families chose to settle
at Round Lake., The American policy Waé to deport as many Indians
as possibie without much distinction between law-breakers and lavwe
abiding Indians. As Burton Deane, Superintendent Commander of the
Northwest Mounted Police, indioated in his report,

The man 'Curly', son of ‘The Gopher' or 'The Squirrel?

with his hard-working wife, seems to be a very deserving

Indian, and the American Officer regretted very much

being compelled to deport him. 19
Although Medicine Bottle and Little~Six, two Sioux chiefs were

drugged and extradited from Fort Garry to the United States

17A1though the Assiniboines had been permitted to live near
the boundary and to visit their relatives across the line, they also
displeased American authorities. Under these circumstances, the
Canadisn government decided to move them north as welle

18Indian AfPairs Documents, Black Series, letter to Secre-
tary of State, Washington, January 21, 1896, PoAeCoe

lglbideg roport to Indien Commissionexr, Regina, July 25,

1896,
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contrary to international law in 1864, British and Canadian author-
ities usually acted in good faith towards the Indians of the North-
weste

In dealing with the Indians in the Northwest, it often
seemed as though governmeﬁt agencies brought British law to Indians
without extending British jusiice, yet the stand taken by British
and Canadian authorities with the American government vis-a-vis
Canasdian and American Indians indicate why the former encountereé
less difficuliy. It was this attitude manifested in the negotia~
tions over the Indiand right to cross the international border that
shows why the United States required a military force to right
wrongs committed by an individual or several Indians whereas the'
Northwest Mounted Police, a police-military organization conceived
by Sir John A. Macdonald, could arrest & wrong-doer single@handedlye
In the minds .of American law-enforcement agencles, tribal wrong-
doings were perceived. Generally, the Americans were ready 1o
condemn whole bands of Indians for wrongs committed by individualse
In the Canadian circumstances, the authorities generally did not
condemn whole bands for the breaking of the law by an individual

or individuals by the band.

20Laviolette, Gos The Sioux Indians in Canada, Regina, The
Marian Press, 1944, pe 56=5T. These two chiefs, among other Sioux
refugees from Minnesota territories, were wanted by American
authorities as war coriminalse.

2lngipr John A. Macdonald and the Mounted Police Force for the
Northwest Territories® by Se. W. Horrall in The Canadian Historical

Review, June, 1972, University of Toronto Press, pe. 179=200 is an
exoellent article on the organization of this force.

21
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Although many Indian leaders resistod the removal poliecy,

little force was required to effect the policy as carried out to a

large extent by the Northwest Mounted Police. As a consequent of

the removaly, a large number of Indians were crowded into the

Qu'Appelle area and some were allowed to drift towards the North
Battleford~Edmonton aréa. The policy deprived the Indians of a
large area which the buffalo had left but which still sustained
small game such as deer. It also deprived these Indians of & °
fairly good farming and ranching areaj many observers felt that

the Plains Indians could have more readily underiaken ranching

than they did farminge.
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C. Administration of Indian Affairs in the Norithwest

From 1874 to 1905 there were sevéral governmental agencies
which played a role in administering the business of the Indian
peoples The main legislative body for Indian Affairs was the
Canadian parliament in which the Indians were not directly re-
presented. The Acts passed by this body or the Orders—in-Council
of the Cabinet were generally formulated and implemented by the
Indian Branch of the Dopartment of the Interior. This section of

the Depariment was responsible for carrying out the terms of the

treaties which were normally interpreted by government officials
without any obligation oX commitment to seek the advice of éhe
Indians concerned.

At the local level in the Northwest Territories; &
Lieutenant Governor and his Council, the staff of the Indian
Affairs branch, the Commissioner of the police force and the
Indian chiefs were the main official agehcies for implementing
government policles and treaty agreements and for maintaining law
and ordeT. |

Before the signing of the Qu'Aﬁpelle Treaty in 1874, a
Board of Indian Commissioners wWas established by an Order-in=
Council to oversee the affairs of the Territories. Its main

Punctions were to formulate the general principles to be followed

in dealing with the Indians of the Northwest Territories and in

Manitoba and to arrange for treaty nogotiations with the Indians

of the area. The policies were to be reported to the central
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offices of Indian Affairs. Lieutenanﬂ Governor Morris, Lindsay
Russell, Chief Land Granting Officer of Winnipeg, and Se. Je
Dawson, the Indian Commissioner, were the three designated board
members. During its short exisience this board proved unsuccess—
ful and was abolished in 1875. Lieutenant Governor Morris always
opposed his own membership on this Board since he felt the admin-
ijstrative duties of Indian Affairs would jeopardige the esteeﬁ in
which the Lieutenant Governor was held by the Indianse

The Lieutenent Governor and his Council as established
by the Northwest Territories Act of 1875 continued to play an
active role in Indian Affairse. Indian Chiefs had the habit of
communicating with the Licutenant Governor in order t0 express
their grievances, demands, or good wishes. The Lieutenant Gover-
nors generally used their favoured positions to appease the
Indians in times of conflict or distress. Of all the government
officials, they were held in the highest esteem among the Indians
of the Northwestol

The Lieutenant Governor was usually also an Indian Commis-—

sioner and reported matiers concerning the Indians directly to the

Superintendent General of the Indian Affairs in Ottawa. Most of

these annual reporis contained a distorted view of the deplorable

lThe prestige of an Tndian Commissioner in dealing with the
Indians was referred to by Lieutenant Governor A. E. Forget in his
official capacity as Indian Commissioner. Indian Affairs Documentsy
Black Series, Forget's report to the Honourable Clifford Siftony:
January 209 1897@ Poholo )
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conditions of the native population. For example, Indian agents
knew very well that agriculture was most unsuccessful among the
Indians. Yet their reports indicated that the Indians were taking
to farming successfully. The reports of the philanthropists, such
as church officizls in the Northwest, and newspaper articles often
reflected the true picture of the condition of the Indian. These
views were normally used by the opposition against the government.
It was under these circumstances that Prime Minister John A.
Maodonald asked for a favourable report from Commissioner Dewdney

in the early 1880's. The Lieutenani Governors who were interested

in settlement and who were responsible o the federal government

most often had their official reports contradict their personal
views on the conditions of the Indians. By giving these favour-
able reports, the government could keep expenditures at a minimum
and counteract the opposition both inside the House of Commons and
outside. Since the power of expenditure of the.Lieutenant Gover=
nors was limited, they were forced to gllow the Indians only a
minimum of supplies when the chiefs came to see them. Other
government officials were also expected to give the Indians as
little aé possible in order to encourage them to work@2 These
token supplies along with those of the Indian Affairs barely kept

the Indians alive. This practice was followed well into the

ZIndian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter 10 Pe Jo
Williams, farm instructor at Crooked Lakes from the Indian
Commissioner, August 19, 1885, P.A.Co.
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twentieth century.

The Northwest Mounted Police force which was organized in
1873, became one of the most important agencies to deal with the
Indians of the Northwest. The higher ranking officers performed
duties delegated both by the Lieutenant Governor and the central
office of Indisn Affairs. For example, for several years Major
Walsh of Cypress Hills performed thée duties of Indian Agent by
paying the Indiams their annuities and by helping in the enforce-
ment of justice. Captain Allen MoDonald, the first égent of the
QufAppelle Treaty, was also in charge of the police forece in
southeastern Saskatchewan. Among the main functions of the, police
were the stopping of the liquor trade; the prohibiting of inter=
tribal warfareg the curbing of horse stealings and the maintenance
of peace between the settlers and the Indians.

Inter~tribal warfare had existed for several.decades be-
tween the Blackfoot confederacy and the Plains Cree and their allies,
the Assiniboines. It was partially through warfare which consisted
mainly of small raiding parties thattthe young braves gained prome
_inence in their bands. To kill an aaversary through a "coup”,
that is by sneaking up to him and striking him on the head with a
club, was one of the best ways to show one's bravery and thereby
win acelaim within the tribe. When the police force came to the
Northwest early in the 1870's, this type of warfare was still |
prevaelent although it quickly died out as common practice due to

the lack of buffalo and the subsequent removal of the Plains Cree
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from the deep southwest. The Indians were forced to do more hunt-
ing or to beg near forts. The scarcity of food gaused the Indians
to engage less and less in warfare.

The demand for horses in the Northwest coupled with the
traditional practice of horse stealing by the Plains Indians led
to the widespread practice of this type of thefte Since the
police force were concentrated in the Cypress Hills area, the
southeastern boundary was left open for horse-stealing and in thaf
area American desperadoes and Indians carried on horse stealing
almost at wille When the poor settler happened to be the vietim,
he was in no position to follow the thieves. The police in many
instances could not bring the thieves to Jjustice.

The main sources of aggravation between the settlers and the
Indiang were cattle killing, timber cutting on Reserves and the
sooial conflict around the towns. In the drier regioms ranching
was attempted where cattle were permitted to roam almost without
care. The Indians often took the liberty of killing some animals,
especially when they (the Indians) were in a state of starvation,
a state not too uncommon in the 1880's. The settlers on the other
hend availed themselves of timber found on Indian reserves. Al-
though this practice was very annoying to the Indians, not much
was done on their behalf as settlers claimed they did so unwit-
t+inglys,and the magistrates were often sympathetic to them. 4s
towns sprang up near reserves, social confliots often caused

further alienation between Indians and Whites. Sometimes Indians
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were removed from their original reserver as happened to Cotd's
Teserve where Kamsack, Saskatchewan, is presently located. The
Indian chiefs and their councils were recognized in certain aspects
of Indian administration, but they tended to be ignored by white
officials whenever it was feasible or practical.

All official responsibilities and powers of the chiefs were
controlled by government legislation or officials since their de-
cision and those of their council had to be approvéd by Indian |
Affairs officials. The Indian Act spelled out the technique to
be used for the selestion of chiefs. A chief was to be elected
by male band members over twenty;one years of age. This was the
only area in which Indians had any rights. These rights were
limited in fact since their decisions had to be ratified by the

Superintendent-General who could accept or reject their decisions

on the advice of an Indian Agent. By Act of Parliament fhe chiefs

were given responsibilities such as administration, policing, and
carrying out of public works on their reservesy, but no monies
were ailotted directly to them to carry out these duties. The
chiefs could also be removed at the will of government officialse
For example, Pia-Pot lost his chieftainship in the late 1880°s.
Pia~Pot had been & good chief to his people but had proved a
nuisance to government officials. The powers and the prestige of
the chiefs deteriorated rapidly under the reserve system which in
effect meant the loss of & potentially very viaeble institutione.

Their powers deteriorated quiockly because the chiefs did not enjoy
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the same prestige under the reserve system as they had done in
their traditional way of life. They were no longer able to
accunulate wealth or gain prestige through warfare. The chiefs,
like their band members,; were ofiten reduced to beggary and incom—
petence.

To deal more effectively with the Indians, the Northwes®
Territories were divided in 1877 into +two Sﬁperintendenciesx
Manitobs and the Northwest. Devid Laird became the first Indiah‘
Superintendent of the western section. The Commissioner was
aided in his duties by a local agent. At the ouiset his main
duties were to pay the Indians their annuities, {to provide them
with presents annually and to instruct them in farming. Until
1885 there were only two Indien agents who worked among the
Indians under Treaty Number Four. After the troubles of 1885,
several agencies were organized and more agents were employede

To insure greater efficiency and to effect a reduction
in expenditures, the administration of Indian Affairs was re-
organized in 1897 under Clifford Sifton's leadership. Undexr the-
new system, the eight agencies under Treaty Number Four and the
three industrial schools at BElkhorn, Brandon and Qu'Appelle were
t0 be under the control of an inspector who was to reside at
QutAppelle. The inspector of each area was to be more sffective
than the previous two superintendents had been because he would
have a smaller area to administer and would be able to inspect

the agencies more carefully and frequentlys
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The de-centralization of the administration in the Northe

west also meant the reduction of office work in the Regina office.
The Commissioner would then have more time to travel about to the
various inspectorates to oversee the work carried out by the
Department of Indian Affairs. With the re—organization, +the
Commissioner®s staff in Regina was reduced from nineteen members
to six members with a saving of $99100900e3

The local‘administratibn staff of Treatly Nuﬁber Four was
reduced by about 75%, a saving of $6,800.00, for a population of
2,682 including 51 Sioux Indians. The reports said nothing abouf
how these Indians were to be affected by the re-organization. In
1897, the greatest need for re-—organization lay with the material
and moral positiéns of the Indians themselves.

The administrators of Indian Affairs in the Northwest were
generally guided in their duties by the enabling legislation of
the Indiasn Aots. The Indian Act of 1876 enunciated the status of
the native people and the policy to be followed regarding the
regulation of their affairs.* The Indians of Canada, generally,
did not have a word to say about this act. Although some of the
clauses were inter—related with the Treaties, the Northwest In-
dians were not consulted in the framing and the implementation‘

of the Acte

3Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, Forgei's report
40 the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, July 28, 1897y P.A.C.

#
See Appendix X
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According to the Act, the Indians of Treaty Number Four

were classified in two main groups — treaty and non-treaty
indianso The Act defined an Indian as one who belonged to a
particular band, & child of such an Indian, or & woman married
lawfully to such a person. A non=treaty Indian was a person of
Indian descent who belonged to an irregular band and who followed
the Indian way of life even if such a person had resided in Canada
only temporarily. By this definition, an Indian wés something
less than a person until he became endowed with a greater degres
of '‘civilization' by engaging in farming and by becoming enfran-
chised. Those who tried to claim Indian status after having
recelived their land scripts were told that they csould not be
Indians. Only those Half-Breeds who had lived the mode of the
Indian 1life could be Indians. Many Half-Breeds such as Chief
Gordon and Gabriel Coté were considered Indians. Many of these
so-called Indians took up land scripts after °0ld Tomorrow'® and
his colleagues were shaken into action after 1885«4 All Indians

of the Northwest Territories were barred from the enfranchisement

privileges granted under sections 86 to 93 of the Act except by

special proclamation of the Governor Generale This section was

not an impediment to the Indians of the Northwest since enfranch-

4Sir John A, Macdonald, was nick-named '01ld Tomorrow!
because of his hesitation and apparent lack of concern. After
some M&tis and Indians had decided to do something about their
plight in northern Saskatchewan, some of their demands were met,
one of them being the granting of land scripis to the Half=Breeds.




isement meant the material loss of those articles which were
guaranteed by treaty although these were simply a pittance as
implemented by the government.

The Indian Aot restricted considerably the payment of
annuities to the Indians as guaranteed by Treaty Number Foure.
The nominal sum of five dollars per year per Indian contributed
little to the welfare of the Indians but the basic issue is that
the government determined unilaterally the methodé'nf paying the

annuities. Here the administrators were guided by the Act and by

their personal judgement. By the Act of 1876 only a certain type

of aboriginal could take advantage of annuities. By treaty, arrange-
ments the annuities were sums of money paid to Indians as members -
of those Indian bands which had agreed to abide by the terms of
the treaty without eny qualifications. By Acts of Parliament
without the consultations of the chiefs who had the asuthority to
sign the treaties the federal government proceeded to add quale-
ifications. For example, by Section Tl of the 1876 Act

any Indian committed of any orime punishable by ime

prisonment in eny penitentary or other place of

confinement, shall during such imprisonment, be

excluded from participating in the amnuities, interest

money, or rents payable to the band which he or she is

& member. 5

The Indian chiefs who had been recognized as "bona fide”

leaders of their people in 1874 had absolutely no voice in deter-

5Canada, Statutes of Canada, Ottawa, Queen's Printer, 1876,

Pe 640
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mining the payment of monies to thelr followers. Without the con-

sultation of this authority for withholding payments to Indians
who were considered viclators of the law by a white judicial
gystem, the treaty terms as understood by the Indians were not
adhered to. The fact that Indians were often judged by agents who
knew very little about the dus process of law and justioce in
general further weakensed %he effectiveness of this clause viS—g-
vis the treaty.

Clause 72 of the Act strikes at the very core of the tradi-
tional and accepted social norms of the Indians. By this clause
the government reserved to itself the right to withhold annuities

from any Indian who deserted his family. A woman without children
who deserted her husband to live "immorally with another man®™ also
was not entitled to annuities. In a'pagad society where Christian
values had not been adopted by the Indians, the natives did not
consider this action justifiable. The immorality‘existed only in
the eyes of the white society. Particularly on the Plains where
polygamy was considered as one of the higher social achievements
and where the incidence of marriage separations was frequent, this
notion of punishment for social misdemeanor should have been oute
side the scope of the Department of Indian Affairs. The proper
authorities to consider such intra=band problems had always been
vested within the authority of the chief and his council. Since

the ohiefs and their headmen had signed the treaty and since their

authority had always been accepted by their followers, they would

seem to have been the ones who were the proper men to judge what
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payment ought to be withheld.

Government officials alsc used the threats of withholding
annuities to keep the Indians under their authority. This action
was taken in 1885 when the Indians were encouraged by some of
their chiefs and by some Half-Breeds to join the rebellion. When
decisions to withhold annuities under Treaty Number Four were taken,
generally Indians had no Tecourse whereby 1o appeal such decisions.
The structure of administration, although of good intént, had ser=
jous defects. Maintenance of law and order on reserves, for
example, was difficult. The chiefs had no authority or means of
enforeing their wishes. There was not a suffioient number of
government officials to establish authority within each reserve.
Liquor legislation was never enforced satisfactorily within various
reserves'throughout the pefiqd under discussion. Although the
chiefs were urged to influence their band members to farm, they
were generally unsuccessful. The Sessional Papers of 1896 indicate
that none-~the-less some Indian chiefs were able to co-ordinate
haying aotivities? The whole administrative machinery proved
unsatisfactory in implementing policies which would @ave caused

the Indians to accept & new cultures.

6Canadag Sessional Papers, 1896, p. 428,
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D, Indian Status and the Reservation Question

OQur Indian Legislation generally rests on the
principle that the aboriginies are to be kept
in a condition of tutelage and treated as wards
or children of the State. The soundness of the
principle I cannot admit. On the contrary, 1
am firmly persuaded that true interests of the
sboriginies and of the State alike require that
every effort be made to aid the Red man in
lifting himself out of his condition of tutelage
and dependence, and that is clearly our wisdonm
and our duty through education and every other
means, to prepare him for a higher civilization
by encouraging him to assume the privileges and,
responsibilities of full citizenship. :

In this spirit and with this object the
enfranchisement clauses in the proposed Indian
bill have been frames. 1

The principles enunciated by David Laird in his remarks
on the Indisn Act were generally those accepied by most Canadians
in dealing with the Indians. The goal of 1lifting the Indians
from their wardship state to a "higher civilization' caused
government officials to pass legislation and initiate & few de-
Indianization programs, programs which couid de«tfibalize the
Indians mainly by attaching them to the soil and by educating

theme2

1Canada9 Sessional Papers, 1876, Part I, pe XITI.

ZIbide,'pe 31-38, PFo Ao No Provencher, Indian Commissioner
of Manitoba and the Northwest Territories, expounded his views on
civilizing the Indians end the dilemma which faced the government
in establishing policies for Indiens. One of the interesting
recommendations which he made was that Indian children should be
teught in their native language although this meant a retention of
part of their culture. The ldea was subsequently not used in '
educating Indian children.
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The distriﬁﬁtion or allocation of reserve lands to indiv-
idual Indians was always closely associated with the status of the
‘Indianse During the period under discussion the attempts made by
government officials to civilize the Indians depended a great
deal upon overt bshaviour of the Indians and upoh the government's
readiness to expend funds for that purposee3 The long—term aim
of the government remained a moral onej that is, government
officials felt a duty to alleviate the Indian from his dependent
cohdition» The more pragmatic policy diotated that the government
attach the Indians to the land and avoid paying welfare monies %o
the Indians. |

By 1878 when the Indians on the reserves had not yet learne&
o beoomé self-sufficient agriculturalists and had to be supported
through rations, government officials in Ottawa felt that indivi-
dual families ought to be éiven location=tickets, a form of private
land-holding under the trustful eye of the Canadian government. |
That is, the govermment would still act as trustee of the land and
the property would be non-transferable.

Other than atiempting to civilize the Indians through ag-
riculture, not much was done to individualize and enfranchise
the Indians until after the rebellion of 1885. From this time
until 1905 the process of de~tribalization was to take shape by

anchoring the Indians to individual bands, by removing Indian

3Very often the Indians forced the governmeni to feed them
by raiding stores or by threatening the use of force.
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tribal customs, by having the natives work the land, and by having
the more self-sufficient and enlightened Indians enfranchiszed.
Commissioner Dewdney instructed the Indian agents thuse

Special efforts are to be made towards doihg

awvay among the Indians with the tribal system

and individuality is to be encouraged as much

as possible. 4

When Chief Pasqua, one of the most renowned chiefs of the
plains died in 1889, it was suggested by the agent that for the
sake of civilization no chief ought to replace himes The suggeste

ion was subsequently approved by the Deputy Minister of Indian

Affairs. This method of dealing with Indian leadership proved

unsatisfasctory to the Indians as evidenced by a letter sent to
Prime Ministetr Wilfrid Laurier in 1896. Some Chiefs and
Councillors from Fort & la Corne which was immediately north of

Treaty Number Four area stateds

The Indians sare sorfy 4o hear that when any chief
. or headman dies, the Government are not in favour
‘of allowing them to appoint others to f£ill their

places,

The Indisns understood at the time of signing
the Treaty through verbal interpretation that they

should always have Chief and Councillors. 6

Aftor 1885 renewed efforts were made to atiach the Indians

4Indian Affairs Documentsy Black Ser1es; leﬁter to Indian
agentSQ Augus't 19’ 1885e P.L.Co

5Ib1d,9 letter to the Superlntendent General from Indian
agent Lash, March 23, 1889.

6Ibide, a Petition from several Indians of the adjacent
area %o Homorable Wilfrid Laurier, August 10, 1896,
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tc the soil., The government proceeded to survey the land into 40~
acTe lots and convinced some Indians to move onto these lots and
_work them] This did not, however, solve the food problem because
forty acres was not a large enough amount to support a family, and
the majority of the Indians were not properly equipped to farme.
Government officials by 1885 were determined to allow the
Indians of the Northwest to be inolqded in the Enfranchisement Acte
This would permit professional people such as teachers as well as
the more progressive Indians to become voting citizens. It also
meant the elimination of their treaty rights if they chose to re-
nounce reserve life and move into the mainstream of Canadian socie-
tye Theoretically this practice would have aseimilated the Indian
people. In fact, it created a rejected people, that is, a people
who could not adjust to the white society and who were rejected
by the reserve system. Very few of the Indlan people of Treaty
Number Four benefitted from the Enfranchisement Act of 1886, A
handful of people such as Charles Pratt became enfranchisedy the
rest of the Indians, as they chased the remnants of a once-
plentiful wild-life and fished in fished-out iakesg became mors

ontrenched in their poverty and dependent on government bacon and

7Canada§ Sessional Papers, No., 12, 1890, pe 302, Paris of
five reserves were sub-divided in 1889 into 40-sore lots.
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flour.

The dilemma of the Indian people is well-illustrated in a
;etter to a ohief sent to him in the care of M. He Grazham, Indian
Agent at Qu'Appelle, in 1903. Apparently the chief had applied for
more land and for enfranchisement on behalf of his band. First
of all, he was refused enfranchisement,

As a number of your Indisns still fbllow to a

large extent the Indian customs and habits in

their manner of living, the time has not yet

arrived when they should be enfranchised. g
J. McLean, the government official from Ottawa, then went on tq
explain that since the band's population had decreased from 250 to
215, the Indians really did not need more land as they now had
" more land per capita than in 1881, Since the~band was & Sioux
band, one must point out that these people had received only 80
acres of land per family of five. The letter further stated that

Your request for further land will be considered

when the question of enfranchisement is finally

dealt with. 10

Because of lack of land and the lack of techniocal knowledge in

8In 1888, the government expended $372,000,00 for destitute
Tndians in the Northwest Territories. Ten years earlier $29,400.00
had been spent for the same purpose. In the 1887-88 report, it was
stated that the Indisns of Treaty Number Four had received & total
of 454,000 pounds of flour and 295,000 pounds of meat. Dewdneys; Eey
Description and Plane of Certain Indisn Reserves in the Province of
Manitoba and the Northwest Territoriesy Regina, J. L. Perkins,
Bookbinders, 1889, p. 21=25.

9Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter %o the
Sioux Chief from J. D. McLean, March 25, 1903. P.4A.Cs

07134,
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farming, the Indians remained dependent upon government Provie
sions and their old mode of life —— hunting and fishing. It must
be pointed out here that most of the Indians of Treaty Number

Four had already had to make an adjustment from buffalo hunting

to small game hunting and fishing. This-many of them did reluc-
tantly and unsuccessfully. The dependence upon government support
and the perpetuating of old customs meant that the Indians could
not be enfranchised. Lack of political and economic power kept
the Indians at a low social level. This in turn sustained the
government officials® view that the Indians ought to be kept in

tutelage as minors. By the beginning of the twentieth century,

regardless of an Indian's social or political promiﬁence within

his band, almost every Indian of Treaty Number Four remained a

ward of the state.




CHAPTER IV
THE TREATY AND INDIAN PROBLEMS

A. Bducation

The wvehicle previously alluded to by which the Indian would
eventually remove his political, economic and social shackles was
formal education. This education took several forms for the
various segments of the Indian population. Generally, education
was geared towards the youthful groups who were supposed to Teject
the ways and views of the older generationgl Eventually the
older generation would die off and the younger generation would
embrace the Buro-Canadian way of 1life and shed the influence of
their ancestors. Whatever coercion, threat, or persuasion was'used
$0 indoctrinate civilizatior! and Christianity into the young
Indian minds, it remained unsuccessful partly due to circumsiances '
and partly due to the opposition of the older generations to the
type of education which was proposed by government officials and
the shurches for the Indian children.

Government officials? wishful thinking that the Indians
once on & reserve would look across the way and emulate the white

pettlers in working the land was soon dissipatedez Because of

lCanada9 Sessional Papers, No. 9, 1876, pe 35-36¢

zlbid., pe 33. Provencher's claim that a government's sole
duties towards Indians in the Northwest were the superintendence
of Teal estate and the prevention of the sale of spirituous liquors
soon proved to be false.
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this it was decided as early as 1879 by the government that a
system of farm instruction would be established for the Indisns of
the Northwest including those of the QulAppelle TreatyeB The farm
instructors, whose only qualification for the Jjob might be
politiocal affiliation, never successfully established the Indians
&8 self-sufficient farmersw4 Most of the insiructors, like the
farmers of the Northwest, knew nothing about dry farming which was
the only successful way of working the available land on which the
Indians of Treaty Number Four had settled. When the instructional
system was introduced, the Indians were hardly prepared to farm and
refused to abide by government regulations to remain on théir
reserves to work the land; Usually the instrfuctor, along with
his wife and other relatives, drew a salary and provisions while
attempting to convince the Indians they ought to follow his Pre-
cepts. Sir John Macdonald's view that such a system would be
required for only a few years wﬁereupon the natives would become

proper farmers never materializedo5 Besides the many re-adjustment

3CanadaLSessional Papers,; No. 65,:1880, p. 2, Four of the
seventeen instructors hired wers for Treaty Number Four area.

4Ibi&o@ 1900, pe 559. Agency reports for Treaty Number Four
area indicate that approximately 3,000 acres yielded 30,000 bushels
of wheat, oats and barley,

5Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, memorandum to Sir
John A. Macdonald, May 22, 1882, P,A.Co The memorandum shows that
the government was hopeful that the farm insiruction system would
be sucoessful within a short period of time. Thus the instruotors
were hired for only a three year period in 1879¢ PodoCo
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prgblsm59 the Indian had to contend with too few tools and animals
to set himeelf up as a successful farmer. It seems that little
more of the good precepts of the farm instructors rubbed off onto
the Indians than had those of the settlers,

By treaty sagreement the Commissioner bound the government
of Canada to provide schools for the Indians of Treaty Number Foux
For the most part the Indians contended that the schools ought to
be built on the reserves where the children would be in close
proximity to their homese6 Although the government yielded to
Indian préssure,to build a few day schools, as they became known,
most of the government monies were spent in building industrial
or residential schools which were centralized in larger towns or
reserves., Those children affected by Treaty Number Four mainly
attended QutAppells, Blkhorn and Brandon Industrial Schools.

The principles upon which these schools were founded were
based upon the Honourable N. F. Davin's report‘of 1879, Nicholas
F. Davin was commissioned by the Department of Interior to in-
vestigate the system used in the United States. N.F. Davin based
his support of this school system upon information gained from his
interviews with government.offioials and Indian chiefs of the "five
civilized tribes™ after which he drew the following observations

The happy results of Industrial schools are
strikingly shown in the case of the five
‘ecivilized' nationsy the Cherokees, the

6Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, 422, 752, Speech
of Star Blanket, a Cree chief, to the Governor General, undated,
presumably in the early 1900'se Po.A.Coe
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Chickasaws, Chocktaws, the Creeks, and Seminoles,

vwho are all making undoubted progress in agri-

culture and in educatione. 7
For further evidence of the success of these schoolsy No Fo Davin
was induced to visit the White Farth agency in Minnesota where he

found the school well-~attiended, and the

answering of the children creditable. Bui

the quickest and brightest were mixed bloods. 8
According to Davin the industrial school was the most fundamental
and successful feature of the policy known as that of 'aggressive
civilization® adopted by the United States government in its
attempt to elevate the Indian to’'higher civilization. This iype
of school was allegedly superior to the day school which

did not work, because the influence of the

wigwam was stronger than the influence of

the schoole 9

The history of the QulAppelle Industrial School which
affected most of the Indians of Treaty Number Four will be dig=
cussed in relation to some of the recommendations made in the
Davin report. It was recommended that the government contract
the school responsibilities to church organizations such as the

Oblate Fathers who under Father Houganard opened their school a$

QuiAppelle in 1884, Davin favoured Buffalo Lake over the

7Report on Industrial Schools for Indians and Half-Breeds,
to the Minister of the Interior from Nicholas F. Davin, March 14,
1879, PoA.S. (Regina).
8Ibideg The White Barth agency was made up of Chippews
Indians,

P Ivide




95
Qu'Appelle site because the former location

would have the advantage of being removed

far from possible contact with whites for

many years at least. 10
No. F. Davin was also of the opinion that denominational schools
would be essential in order that the Indians® mythology be
successfully replaced by a 'superior' faith which would be best
inculcated by religious bodies. Although the religious orders,
that is, the Oblate Pathers and the nuns, offered ‘proper’ models
of life to the Indians, the difficulty of converting the Indien
people to Christianity and having them renounce their 'pagan®
religion is best illustrated by the following anecdote which was
narrated by Father Houganard in 1916,

An elderly Indian lady who refused to embrace Christianity
told of the dilemma of an old aunt who had been baptized in the
Roman Catholie faith, had supposedly died, then re-appeared to her
relatives to wvhom she told the following storys

My grandchildren, do not be afraidg the Great

Spirit sent me down to warn you. When I died I

went to the heaven of the Indians, but they said,

'You have been baptized and you are covered with

crosses; go to the heaven of the white people.’

When I got there, they said, 'Grandmother, you

have the skin of an Indianj we cannot take you

here.! So I warn you not to be baptized or
become Christians., 11

loReport on Industrial Schools for Indiens and Half-Breeds,
to the Minister of the Interior from Nicholas F. Dav1n9 March 14,
1879, P.A.S. (Regina).

l1Indians of North America - Anecdotes, "Indian of the
West'y F., Houganard, reprinted from The Leader, Mey 27, 1961,
P.A.S. {(Regina)e
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A grandmother of some childrenm under PFather Houganard's
school had come to visit the children during which time the priest
‘attempted 10 convince the Indian lady to bécome baptized, but the
lady had the following answer:

Grandson, you see me nowj I am about & hundred

years old. Every summer when there is & rain storm,

gspecially a thunder stormy I go out of my tent and

with only a single dress and bare-headed, I let the

Great Spirit baptize me . « o and T am happy because

I have been baptized by the Spirits from above. 12

Among the more constructive recommendations that Davin made were
the paying of decent salaries to atiract good teachers who should
have a sound character and & knowlédge of farminge Unfortunately,
the number of pupile put under the charge of teachers was usually
80 great that it would have been impossible for such a tgacher 10
function satisfactorily. Secondiy9 since the schools were denom—
inational, the government, though it gave grants to the churches,
had no control over the hiring of teachers who were quite often
not qualified and under-paid.

The aims of the Industrial schools were to purge the
Indian children of their ancestoral habits by teaching them a new
language and trades. According to Davin the establishment of a
proper milieu was imperative. To substantiate his point he quoted
a Mr. Mukery, an educator of United States Indianss |

Hitherto, says Mr. Muker, young men have been

boarded and clothed and instructed, but in time

they were off to the hunting ground. The plan
now is to take young children, give them the carse

12Indians of North America - Anecdotes,; op. vites story
told 'Dy Abel Watetchs PohoSe Regina)e




of a mother, and have them instantly in hand.

Such care must go pari passu with religious

training. 13

It was common belief that Indian children were inferior to
Caucasians and could not cope with advanced academic courses so
only English and elementary arithmetic were taught to the Indian
studentss The rest of the time they were subjected to routine
labour and the learning of Chriatianity and trades.%’

To appreciate the lack of success of these Industrial
Schools which taught practicel curricula for the education of mos%t
ohildren, some of the problems and forces working against it must
be considered. In many cases the schools were understaffod as
indicated 5y Reverend Houganard in 1888 and attendance was ir-
regular. He stated,

o o o fifty-two girls taught and overseen by one

sister. Pupils come in any time of year o o o

nevcomers do not understand English and are not

at all brokem to diseipline. 14 '

Since many Indians were still nomadic and unconvinced that the
Industrial schools were doing any good for their chiidren, it is
understandable that many were tardy. Another problem of attendance

was assoclated with sickness., Many children died from $uberculosis

and scrofula, both.oontagious diseases, but both considered hered-

13Davin, Ne Feoy Roport on Industrial Schools for Indians and
Half=Breeds, op. cite ”

14Indian Affairs Doocuments, Blacgk Series, letter from
Reverend Joseph Houganard to H. Reed, November 20, 1888. P.A.Co

+*
See Appendix XII,
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itary at the time. Perhaps most important of all is the fact
that the schools did not turn out to be suitable substitutes for
parenthood. Both parents and children torn apart from one another
by persuasion or by police coercion and threats could not overcome
their loneliness. Abel Watetoch, a student of the QutAppelle school
recalled his experience when observing a family overcome by emotion
upon their reunion at the school,

Just then, I seem to feel as if something was

choking me, too, as when my father brought me into

the school years before, he told me not to feel

lonesome as I was a motherless kid and my sister

had to teke me away, when my dad was leaving me.

I turned away and looked around the hills and

eventually I was alright again. 15

legislation was introduced in 1894 for compulsory attendance
at industrial and boarding schools. The age limit was 4o be
eighteen years, but students were often compelled to g0 beyond
that age. The governor-in-council had the right to apply

o o o the annuities and interest moneys of children

committed to such industrial school or boarding

schooly, to the maintenance of such schools respectively,

or to the maintenance of the children,themselves. 16
Although the government was responsible by treaty to wholly support
schools, it used the Indians? money to 4o 80. The unsuccessfulness

of the industrial school is well summed up in the following sit-

uation sent to Right Honourable Wilfrid Leaurier in 1896s

15Indians of North America - Anecdotes, C=l. Story told
Abel Watetchy P.A.S. (Regina)e _

16

Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, letter from H.

Reed to Assistant Indian Commissioner in Regina, July 31, 1894,
P.A.Co




In regard to the Industrial Schools in this District
we find that the progress made in regard to learning
is poor and when the children leave these schools
they are not assisted to make a start for themselves
and in some gases their clothing which they receive
whilst at the school ig taken from them when they
leave. Also in some cases after four or five years
attendance at the school they returm home unable to
either write or speak English. 17

The policy of forced assimilation and indoctrination was
further maintained through residential schools which were nor-

mally operated as mission schools. This system, instituted in

the late 1880's, used essentially the same academic courses as

the day schools, but there was one major difference in the minds
of government and church officialsj ome had dictatorial conirol of
the children for twenty-four hours a day, whereas in ihe other the
children went home after school hours. The Indians preferred the
day schools as children could be kept at home. This was unsat-

isfactory to the government as the children attended school less

regularly and were constantly exposed ito the Indian way of life
which eventually deteriorated into a poverty culture. The main

reasons for absenteeism were parental indifference to formal

education, the family pursuit of hunting and fishing, and the

people's state of poverty oftem sinking to starvation.
The Indian’s failure to embrace successfully and generally

this school system was comprehensible; the government's refusal

17Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, Petition to the
Honourable Wilfrid Laurier from a number of Indians at Fort a la

Coine adjacent to Treaty Number Four area. August 10, 1896,
PO OCO
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to implement its treaty obligations was incomprehensible. In the

minds of most responsible Indians the itreaty implications were '

clear as expressed by & chiefs

In the treaty we made then the Government promised-
to make a school for every band of Indians on their
ovn Reserve, but instead little children are torn
from their mothers' arms or homes by the police or
Government Agents and taken sometimes hundreds of
miles to large schools perhaps to take sick and die
when their family cannot see them. The little ants
which live in the earth have their young ones and
wish to have them in their homes. Surely us red
men are not smaller than these ants. 18

It is obvious from treaty negotiations that some of the

Indians had an inkling that schools would be required to educate

their ochildren. Government offisials knew that, too. Altﬁough

there was much correspondence asbout building schools, very little

was accomplished during the first quartér esntury of government

19

rule over the QufAppelle Indians.

Like thé rest of the clauses in the treaty, the school

clause was unilaterally interpreted by the Department. For that

18Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, address by Star
Blanket to the Great White Chief, presumably the Governor General
of Canada. Since ithe correspondence bears no date, the document

number 422,752 is given, P.A.Co

lgBy 1900, there were 195 Indian students attending board-
ing schools and 71 attending 5 day schools in Treaty Number Four
area. There were 225 students at Qu'Appelle Industrial School aad
105 at Regina Industrial Sohool. The statistics for Industrial
Schools include students from other areas. Probably less than
75% of the total number were from the area covered by Treaty
Fumber Four. (anada Sessional Papers, No. 14y 1890, School
Inspectorate?s Report,; pe 369-376.
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reason, the government decided when a& band was ready for a school
and thereupon forced the Indians 1o build or help bulld the school
before it was prepared to provide & teacher. Although as sarly as
1879 it was recommended that a school be built on each reserve,
most of the reserves never received & day school. Pasqua's reserve
did not receive a school until 1884 although the reserve had been
settled for & econsiderable time. It was practically impossible

to supply these schools with qualified personnel since the salar-
jes and the working conditions were poor. In 1873, a $300.00 grant
per annum was granted out of the Indian fund to engage teachers.

The schools were to receive full grant provided there was an

average of sixty scholars in attendanceszo In 1882 an Order~ine—

Council allowed for a salary of $300.00 per annum, plus "812@00
for eagh student over twenty-five in number and under forty~twoe“21
Still, it was reported that "the salary now offered for tsachers
(8300,00) is not such as ocan possibly attract efficient ieachers,
especially in out of the way reserves and vhen the character of
the work is taken into account@"22

There were toc few children in attendance in the various

schools, the Indians?® interest was tooc low and the government

policy was too feeble for the educational system to have had muoch

20Morris Papers, Ketcheson Colleotion, November 20, 1873, P.A.M.

2lIndian Affairs Documents, Black Series, memorandum from
Indian Affairs Departmenty; June 25, 1891y PoA.C. ‘

ZEIbidog Report from St. John's College, Qu'Appelle,
Pebruary 23, 1886, :
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impnot in changing their ‘'primitive ptate'! to o 'higher ocivili-
gzation', a lofty ideal expressed by many govornmont officials who
set up & poor education machine to implement it. Consequentlys
the new genaration, except to a few, forgot thelr arithmetic,

English, and new religion and embraced some of the old ways of

their forefathersband their new way —— that of a welfare state. L
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Be BEoonomiess

In 1883, a government official reported that gophers were
relished by the Indians as foodj during the course of the next few
years some Indians of-the QutAppelle region were requested to al-
locate some of their band money to exterminate the gophers. In
the spring, as early as April, Indian crops were reported to be
growing and doing wellg in the fall there were usually-exouses for
the crops' having done poorly. When the central office in Ottawa ’
would require austerity, it was usually epplied directly towards
the Indians. Bacon and flour rations would be cut down, and tea
and sugar would become unobtainable luxuries for the natives.
Austerity usually led to privationj privation to starvation. Whils
this went ony the Indian Affairé bureaucracy fed by political
patronage grew and government employeeé made sure they received
their guaranteed annual provisions. Since Indian Agents kept
irack of thé Indian provisions and those of government employees
under the same account, it became difficult to say how many timés
government officials would avail themselves of Indian provisions.
The Plains hunters, deprived of the buffalo, could not make them-
selves do things they held in disdain =~ manual labour and fishings
many of the woodland people could no longer fish and hunt success—
fullys the fur trade for all practical purpoées was dea&; game
was too scarce to provide a decent living.

Under these trying conditions the Indians were expected %o

adopt & new way of 1life and mew techniques of self-sufficienty.
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Morris had promised that the Queen, the Great White Mother, had

sent him to ses to the welfare of her red children. The immediate
help promised the Indians was in the form of such things as farming
implements, cattle, ammunition, and twinse.

A little ammunition to kill a little game and a2 few nsetis
to catch a few fish was all that could be expected in terms of food
production from the allotted ammunition and fishing materialse.
The total sum of seven hundred and fifty dollars for hunting and
fishing equipment was hardly sufficient for the Indian people of
Treaty Four. Since hunting and fishing had been the sole means
of livelihood for the Indians, it is not conceivable that a
comnission concerned for the people could have deemed it necessary
to include the hunting end fishing rights clause in the treaties as
e ooncession to the Indians. Perhaps as lmportant was the fact
that the Indians were often subjeot to hunting and fishing regu-
lations whioch resiricted their right to make a living at their
particular avocations. As the Indians of Fort a4 la Corne ad jacent
to Treaty Four, stated in their petition to Sir Wilfrid Lauriers

We understood at the time of signing Treaty that we

should retein any privileges we held, besides having

the same opportunity of meking a livelihood as the

Whiteman.

We find we sre prevented from fishing in the
waters along our Reserves -— and also shooting game
in the close season —= Nothing of this was mentioned

at that time =-— and we consider the enforcing of these
regulations, is unjust. 1

The most complex problem confronting officials and Indians

1

PuALC Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, August 10, 18969
B0V ’
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in economic terms was farming. This problem was never resolved
well enough to make the Indian population self-sufficient during
the latter part of the nineteenth century or later. This was
applicable as well to the Sioux Indians, who were gsnerally
considered more progressive and intelligent than the Canadian
Indians of the Northwest.

There are several reasons that could be explored to in-
dicate the failure of ithe Indians to adjust to the new life.
Some areas bound by Treaty Number Four were unfit for farming and
cattle-raising. The Plains Indians, in particular, were at best
cool to the idea of farmings some of them rejected it completelys
The new cultural traits such as religion énd new occupations did not
adequately replace the old cultural valuess.

The Plains Indians aooﬁstomed t0 an easy,

free, and lazy existence will not in the

present generation take to farming unless

compelled to do so. 3
They had been forced to leave their former location which in part
was ideal for cattle-raising. Indian Affairs officilals used &
narrow interpretation of their responsibilities 1o supply ihe
Indiens with farming implements and cattle, and after 1884, many

bands were siripped of their most productive land in the guise of

the 'for their benefit?! clause.

2Hallowellg Ao Ioy Culture and BExperience, University of
Pennsylvania Press, 2nd. Bdition, 1955,

3Morris Papers, Lieutenant Govermor's Collectiony, Report of
Bdward McKay to A. Horris, May 18, 1873y P.A.M.
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This statement generally held true for the Indians under
consideration (with occasional exception) who were enticed to farm.
At the outset this enticement was supposed to develop, according
to the Indian Commissioner, through the Indians' observation of the
settlers! success:

Indian Reserves being generally situated in the

midst, or in the immediate vicinity of settlements,

there is no necessity (as in the case elsewhers) %o

teach the several Tribes in the rudiments of the new

way of life which they are called upon to embrace. 4
The following year the Commissioner in his annual report claimed
that the governmment had no responsibility or duty to set up model
farms, He therefore concludeds

e o o nothing therefore remains to be done but the

superintendence of real estate and the preventions

of the sale of spirituous liquors. 5
In time, it was proven that mere observation and non-participation
by the government would not make an Indian a farmer. By 1879
Government policy instead was to establish model farms where the
farm instructors were to guide the Indians in learning how to make
& living by egriculture. Besides teaching the Indians farming,
food would be produced at the local level, thereby, reducing the

importation of provisions and the government would have & new

patronage system. It is doubtful if the learning that was done

A 1 pers, Lieutenant Governor A. Morrisy
report %o Superlntendent General of Indian Affairs, October 30,
18759 Pe 32@

SIbideg Indien Commissioner Provencher, 1876, p. 33.
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and the actual profits through production offset the vast expendi-

tures of the farm-instruction system. In 1885 when Commissioner
Dewdney was trying to convince Sir J. A. Macdonald to establish an
agency inspectorate for the Northwest Indians, he stateds

One returns always a large area under crop in the
Spring, but it does not 'pan out' in the Fall. 6

Indeed there were many glowing veports compiled by Indian agents
and Commissioners especially when the Superintendent of Indian
Affairs directed his commissioners to send in "a full and favour-
able report on the progress of Indian settlement on the Reservee"7
One such report among many from Indian Agent Lash read as followss

Harvesting opened very early, the orop is very light

and in some cases not worth cutting and the potatoes

owing to the drought have taken & second growth,; the

late rains may overcome this, as there is time yet,

but at present the roots do not look very encouraginge
Another report from the Crooked Lake Agency for July, 1890, read
as followss

I cannot report as favourably of the rye, this no

doubt is inferior seed. What has grown looks well,
some as high as six feet., 9

6Sir John A. Macdonald Papers, letter from Lieutenant
Governor Dewdney to Prime Minister John A. Macdonald, February 4,
1883, P.A.S. (Regina).

7Ibid99 Private letter from Prime Minister J. A. Macdonald,
to Lieutenant Governor Dewdney, September 17, 1883,

8
PoAJCo

Tndian Affairs Doouments, Black Series, July T, 1888,

9Ibid09 Report to SuperintendentaGeneral Crooked Lake
Agencyy August 6, 1890.
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The Indian people’s disinclination o labour from dawn
to dusk and the unsuitable climate for grain growing coupled
initially with the lack of farming implements assured the failure
of the attempts. The lack of farming implements was one of the
main issues that several chiefs exposed to His Excellency, the
Governor General of Canada when he visited the Sioux, Crees, and
Assiniboines at Qu'Appelle in 1881. Standing Bull®’s claim that
he did not have enough tools to farm was echoed by several chiefs,
including Strong Quill. Originally it had been proposed not to -
give the Indians at Qu'Appelle expensive gifts such as farming
equipment, but the Lieutenant Governor conceded the point on the
understanding that implements would be given to those Indians who
had started to farm. But the implements were simply 16aned out to
the Indians, & method which was disagreeable ito them as they were
obliged to share in the use of thems The need for more implements
was again mentioned by the Indians at Crooked Lake who confronted
the Commissioner and the police force with armed resistence in
1884, To satisfy them, Dewdney purchased two breaking ploughs
and two cross ploughs. In 1888 it was estimated that each Indian
family received $73.30 through agriculiture and other industries
with sach familj having an average of 2.9 acres under ocultivation

10

with an average production of 55 bushels of grain and roots.”

Bxoept for & few individual farmers, little had been achieved by

lolndians of North Amerigca, 'Index and Summaries',

Lieutenant Governor's Record Book M103, P.A.S.y; (Regina).
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the turn of the century in convérting the Indians to agriculture.
Even those who wefe successful in growing orops very often had to
contend with marketing problemse11

The government by treaty obligation also comnitted itself
to provide the Indians with cattle, but it was virtually impossible
fbr the Indians to build up herds as starvation forced them to
kill their animals for meat. Like farming implements, cattle re-
mained the property of Indian Affairs except when a band built up
their own herds as did Coté's band who were reporited to have 397
head in 1905. From available statistics one can conclude that
cattle raising was no more successful than farmingol2

Lastly, when Indian lands were required by various interested
parties, it was common practice to uproot the Indian farmer from
his improved lot and home for a pittance, a praciice which was
hardly in keeping with the Governor-General's profession of 1881s

I want them to know for certain that having made

so long a journey it shows the Queen's love who

always loves her red children and was very sorry
seven years ago to learn that they were hungry. 13

11Indian Affairs Documents, Biack Series, Memorandum to
Deputy Minister of Indien Affairs from James Campbell, July 19,
1905, Po.A.Cs

12As an example of the relatively low agriocultural product-
ivity of the Indians of Treaty Number Four, part of the report
for 1890 is included as Appendix XIL. The Sessional Papers included-
such & report annuallye.

13

Indians of North Amerioca, report on visit of Governor=

General to Fort QutAppelle Indians, November 5, 1881, p.-13,
PohoSey (Regina) °

AN e
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In effect, 1ittle consideration was given to the Indian's right
to occupy & piece of land which he had improved when that plece
of land was within & surrendered area. In 1905 when it was
suggested that part of Pasqua's reserve be sold, the agent
commented thuss

I am satisfied four hundred acres of plowing and

three of four dwellings and the Farm Instructor's

barns is all that would be cut off by selling this

land. I would suggest that the owners of this cul-

tivation be compensated at the rate of five dollars

per acre (the number of acres to be determined by the

Department's surveyors), end the buildings could be

valued by an officer and compensation given. 14
Such land-purchasing policies contradicted avowed government policy
to encourage the Indians in working the land on an individual basise.

Besides farming the Indians could sell hay and timber
from their reserves. The haying was not too profitables the timber,
like the fishing industry was limited through & permit system.
Some Indian people would be hired as scouts or as Indian Affairs
employees, but only on & very limited scale. One or two teachersy
Indian agents here and there, and the odd wood-chopper for survey
crews were employed and in most cases they were underpaid. Because

of the lack of economic opportunity and because the Indians® staple

food had disappeared during this period, the Indians, rather than
being elevated to a'more progressive’ civilization from their hunt-

ing and fishing state, actually regressed. Many observers felil

14Indian Affairs Doouments, Black Series, report to the
Honourable Frank Oliver from agent at Fort Qu'Appelle, December
20, 1905, P.A.C,
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that the Indians would die offels

As early as 1881 the Indians in the Qu'Appelle region
wanted to re-write the treaty so that government provisions would
keep them alive and help them recover from their misery. The
chiefs told the Governor General that the government’s imple-

‘ mentation of the treaty was simply not sufficient to help the
Indiane because the government had siopped giving such things as
ammunition and héd reduced annuity rations. While the Gov;

ernor General told them about the virtue of work and promised to
do something about their plight, the Conservative government had
embarked on an austerity program in its dealings with the Indianse.
The Governor-(eneral represented the Queenj the government repre-
sented the economic power of the countrye.

Thé Indians' discontent with their economic status often
brought them into direct confrontation with various government
officials. The government often came under severe criticism by
Indian leaders themselves for its dealings with the Indians. Pia-
pot put this problem very succinctly to the Superior General of
the Oblate order in Lebret in 1895s

In order to become sole masters of our land,

they relegated us to small reservations as big

as my hand and made us long promises, as long

as my armg but the next year the promises were

shorter and got shorter every year until mnow

they are about the length of my finger, and they
keep only half of that. 16

151ndian Affairs Documents, Black Seriés, letter from James
Setter, Indian missionary to Sir John A. Macdonald, March 10,
18854 PoAeCo

léIndians of North America — Anecdotes, ‘Indians of the

West'!, op. cit.
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In 1884, several Indians almost staged a rebellion in the

Qu‘Appelle region as a result of their lack of food and their
inability to communicate their problems to the Lieutenant Gov-
ernor. When Superintendent Hershmer attempted to arrest some of °
the Indians who had forcibly taken‘rations from the stores, O0'Soup,
one of the Indian chiefs, justified their actions because they were
in a starving condition, rations had been refused, and the food
which had been taken belonged to them anywaye

The government authorities including Indian Agent Ao
McDonald and Superintendent Hershmer, understanding the deter-
mination of the Indians decided not to prosecute the offending

Indians in order to avoid & direet confrontation. The Indians had

shown enough determination when onse of them prevented Superintendent
Hershmer from entering their barricaded house by aiming 2 gun at
his face.

Generally however, government officials and the police

- force could influence the Indians through their-contiol of govern-

ment funds. |

I+ is this power that was used to sustain the Indian, to
appease him and Pinally to subjugate him to the will of the

officials holding the lowest positions in the Indian Affairs

Department. How strange it must have been to Fformer great chiefs
such as Star Blanket, Pia~pot and Pasque to be able to deal with

Governor-Generals and yet submit themselves to the will of the

agent so that their bands would not starve.

The quality and quantiiy of food supplied to the various

Indian bands depended on many factors such as attitudes of the

Indian towards submission and work, and that of the Indian agent
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towards the Indians or tqwards his superior. The agent, 1ln order
to establish his authority over the‘Indians9 would often cut off
rations or replace them. When the government attempted to move
the Indians westward and northward to their allocated reserves, the
agents would be instructed to giﬁe rations only in those areas. 4
classic example of ration substitution occurred at Beaver Lake in
1882. The Indians living there had previously refused to remove to
Saddle Lake. Cohsequently, when they begged for food, the agent
ordered that 500 pounds of barley be sent to them at Saddle Lake
along with 1200 pounds of chopped barley for porridgeol7 )

Such sanctions were even applied to Indians who refused
to vote for land surrendering. For example, in 1891, the agent
threatened the Indian thus,

I have pointed out to the 'old-time! group that

as they have willfully chosen, to defeat a project

that was for the good of the Band and which would

have materially aided progress being made, that they

cannot expect the Department to view their opposition
with anything but disfavour and that they must expect
certain consequences to follow as long as they persist
in obstructing our efforts for the advancement of the

Indians, 18 .

Sinoce the entire political machinery favoured surrender on behalf

of potential votes the Indians had no recourse for justice in the

face of such threats.

17Indian Affairs Doouments, Black Series, letter to the
Indian Commissioner from G. H. Harpin for the Indian Agent, Jan-
uary 179 1892@ P.AsCo

IBIbideg report to the Secretary, Department of Indian

Affairs, Ottawa from agent Mitchell, February 16, 1901,
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The distribution of rations was also directly related %o
the challenging of the Indians to work and to the enforcement of
law. It was felt that the Indiane if over—fed would not work their

farms or hunt. Consequently, rations were normally reduced during

the warmer seasons. In 1887 when Pia-pot requested more rations
for his people, the Agent reporteds

To increase it (the ration) to the satisfying

point of 1 pound per soul per day of beef would

mean to encourage the Indians in idle habits and

over-shadow all chances of ever making them self-

sufficient. 19
On the other hand, working Indians were normally provided with small
rations as inducement to worke In the 1880%'s, since dancing,inteé«
fered with farming and created many social problems, it was de-

cided to stop the pow-wows. D. He Hodges of the Presbyterian

Church of Osk Lake said that the pow-wow was helds

o o o to the great discomfort and annoyance of
many of our town's people. Moreover this
repeated desecration of the Sabbath is always
done by them with & Union Jack floating above
them. 20

In 1886, the Indian agent of Muscowpetung's reserve claimed that

he haéd stopped rations for sll those who refused to stop dancing.

Many Indian Affairs officials such as the Indian agents
who controlled the supply of provisions would gauge their success

as administrators by showing how low costs could be kept. In-

19Indian Affairs Documentis, Blagk Series, Report to Departe
ment of Indian Affairs from Indian Agent Lash, January 10, 1887,
PoA.Co

QOIbidog September, 1888,




115

spector Wadsworth in 1882 claimeds

Whilst there (at the Blood Reserve) it brought

to my recollection, that it was at my visit there

a year ago I fixed the flour ration at what it is

4 pound per soul. The Indians are 2s contented

today as they were when getting 1 1bs o o o It is

from making such savings as this to the Department

I have my title to increase of pay. 21

Drawing attention to the merits of economic retrenchment
he went on to say "it is an honour to be the first to concelve just
where and when to do ite“22 His main object was to convince Ottava
to give him'a raise. Some Indians would be placed on half rations
or on irregular rations so that the cost would be kept below
budgetary estimates. In some cases, regular bacon was replaced
by old oxen, horses oOT dogs. Pahsung, an Indian leader upon pleadé
ing to the Governor-General alleged, "The horses that have had the
soab have been given to the ohildren to oat."2> Another ohief
from northern Saskatchewan said at the same meeting,

You do not see horses because I have eaten theme

We have also eaten our dogse That is what your
work had done for me. 24 '

These 8res perhaps, exaggerated claims, but the agent, McDonald,

who was present, demied neither claime

lendian Affairs Documents, Black Series, Letter to the
Deputy for the Superintendent Ceneral of Indian Affalrs from
Inspector Wadsworth, June 13, 1882y PoheCo

22
Tbide

231ndians of Norih America, report on visit of Governols=
General to Fort Qu'Appelle Indians, ops_ocite

241bido
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The agents were also directed from the Commissioner's
office or from Ottawa about the quantity of rations to be given
to the Indians. These rations included ithe presents given at the
payment of annuities, a custom which had been developed to win
over the friendship of ths natives. In 1888 the Commissioner
diregcted that:

the maximum rations should consist of s pound

of bacon or one pound of meat, and one pound of

flour. It is not intended to furnish them with

tea, sugar, or tobacco except during payment

time; of course, in the event of sickness a

doctor's prescription would have to be carried

out. 25
In 1881, the government ordered that fixed rations of 2 pounds of
meat, 8 pounds of flour, &+ pound each of tea and sugar, and 1/8,
pound of tobacco should be distributed on a per capita basiss26

Lieutenant-Governor David Laird in a letter to Ottawa saw
the Canadian govermment's position in this light:

The Government, I feel convinced have to make

up their minds 1o one of three policies, vis. to

help the Indians to farm and raise stock; to feed

them, or to fight them. 27
During the greater part of time coversd by this paper, the govern—
ment chose to help the Indiang at farming a little, to feed them

a little, and to fight them a little.

25Indian Affairs Doocumenis, Black Series, direciive from
Dewdney to Indian Agents, February 25, 1888. P.d.C.

26Ibid09 letter from the Assistant Indien Commissioner to
Indian Agents, June 21, 1881e

7Dav1d Laird Papers, letter from David Laird presumably

written in 1878 PoA.Se
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The fundamental problem for the native people of the
Northwest during the last part of the nineteenth century weas
adjusting to & new way of life. For many, it was starvation,
sickness, and death; The principle of survival of the fittest‘
was no doubt applicable to these people who had given away part
of a continent for a pittance. Many setilers who came to the
West experienced hardships, but eventually became successful,
received government assistance, or moved to another ares.

In the wfitings relating to the Northwest; no evidence
is found to indicate that Indian Affairs employees were subject
40 economic deprivation; nor does one find much evidence thét
corporations protected by government patronage were ever forced
out of business. Most government employees coming to the Noxrth-
west were guaranteed & fairly substantial income and monthly
provisions. Practically every hopsehold necessity such as soaps
and a wide variety of foods were provided. All agents and farm
instructors were provided with comfortable houses, generally
constructed by friends of the government. At the outset, it was
gommon practice for farm instructors to employ members of their
immediate families to help them in training the Indians. In 1888

Ottawa recommended that such prasctices cease in order to out down

expenses. It was not uncommon to pay dismissed employees two ox

three months wages after they had left the governmeni®s service.
Corporations such as Baker Co. enjoyed the patronage of

the government for most of the time under discussion. Camerony

an Ontario Member of Parliament, in his attack on the Conservative .
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government alleged that bacon was provided to the Indians in order
to sustain the business of this coﬁpanye Statistics showed that‘
beef could be purchased at almost half the cost of bacon928
Considering that the Indians disliked bacon as they were not
accustomed to that kind of meat and that beef would have promoted
local business, it is hard to undersiand the logic in purchasing

29

bacone.

One of the over-riding issues during the Liberal adminis-

tration of 1896 to 1905 was patronage. The correspondence of
Clifford Sifton, Minister of Interior, indicates that in most
cases the main concern was in satisfying Liberal associations -or
supporters rather in helping the Indians, which was supposed to A

be the raison d'8tre of the Depariment of Indian Affairs. This

period stands out because it clearly indicates the conflict of
interest which was vested within the authority of the ministex

in charge of the Department of Interior and that of Indian Affairs.
In 1897, Clifford Sifton stated that in Indian land surrenders it

was

281ndians of North America,'Index and Summaries’,
OPe Cito, Pe 21,

291t could be argued that bacon kept better without re-
frigeration than did beef, but most of the rations were distrib-
uted in the winter. In Treaty Number Six area; the Indians were
fed mainly beef by itreaty concession. MNoreover, bacon was de-
trimental to the health of those who had suffered from consumptive
diseases. Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, report from
Indien Commissioner Dewdney to the Superintendent General, April
289 18849 Po By P.A.Co
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impossible to throw land held by Indians open for

settlement immediately on a proposition to that

effect being made, even in cases in which it is

clear to the Department that it is the general

interest as well as in the interest of any par-

ticular band themselves that such land should be

thrown open. 30
During & period when Indian power in the Northwest had deterior-
ated to nothing, it was understandeble that Indlan interesis were
sacrificed for settlement. The tremendous influx of settlement
into the greater part of the region inhabited by Indians of Treaiy
Number Four after 1900 led to the beginning of a scheme whereby
these Indians lost a great amount of théir land holdings»31

Through the period under discussion economic issues remained
the dominant issues between Indians and governmeni officials.
Generally Indians were considered tooflazy‘or unable to perform
the work hoped for by government officials. The Indians continued
to grumble about the little economic help they were getting and - ‘o
continuously charged the government with non~fulfillment of its
treaty obligations. Pia-pot, while stating the Indian case, was

reputed to have said,

When the treaty was made long ago with the Indian
people, the government said that it should lasi as

long as the grass grew, the sun rose, and Tivers Tran,

3Oclifford Sifton Papers, letter to Oliver (Member of
Parliament), August 5y 189Ts PohAeCe

31During this period, Indisn land near railroads came into
great demand. Many reserves such as Pasqua's and Cowessess'® were
reduced extensively.
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and men walked on two legs. Now, he said,; I know
the White men are going to break ihe treaty, because
the government has senit us & man who has only got a
leg and a half. 32 '

32 hdiens of North America, Pia—pot's blography, ops cite

Pia-pot was referring to Indian Agent Graham who wore an arti- .
. ficial legs




C. BEffects of the New Civilization Upon the Indians

From the signing of Treaty Number Four to the turn of the

century, the Indians ooncerned im the signing and implementation

of the treaty had experienced two distinot modes of life —— that of

+he hunter and that of & ward of the state on & veserve. The

disappearance of the buffalo, the Canadian government'’s policy,

the great impetus of a new civilization, and the Indians?® owﬁ

failure to adjust to & completely new way of life caused havoc

among the Northwestern Indians. Social disintegration caused by g

the loss of economic, political, and social controls within the

society became characteristics of the Indian communi'tiese1 This

phenomenon manifested itself in liquor abuse, lack of interest im

their community, squalor, and genersl lack of initiative. This

became 'Indian’' phenomena in the minds of the settlers, govern=

e g ey

ment officials, and other Canadian citizens. The government's

policies, on the whole, were to attack in a half-hearted manner

the phenomena, but never really to tackle the causes. The Indians

aspired to effect a change in the cycle through government aid,

but their plans were costly and often sneered at by government

officials who controlled the political and economic structures of

;Bailey, Alfred, The Conflict of Buropean and Fastern
Algonkian Cultures 1504-~1700, New Brunswick Museum, Monographic i
Series #2, 1937. The desoription of the Bastern Algonkians' cul- o
tural disintegration is applicable %o that of the Indiens of
Treaty Number Four arsa.
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of the system and who attempted to annihilate the social and

religious structures within the Indian communityaz The result
was loss of prestige and initiative on the part of the Indiens
and their down-grading in the eyes of some of their white neighe
bours who came to view the Indians as nothing more than drunkards
and lagy bums. At the outset, government officials had hoped to
have Indians and settlers live side by side so that the Indians
would learn from the settlersg but it soon became apparent that
Indians near growing towns were unsightly, immoral and unwanted.

Prior to 1874, free trade had brought with it the widespread
use of liquor for trading purposes with the Indians. Liquor canme
into the Northwest from the United Statés and the Red River region
in abundences often it was poisonouée3 Charles Bell reported ié
March, 1874, that

The Indians do not wish to have any liquor in the

country, but say they cannot res?rain their e

appetites for it when it is withln thelir reach.

The American traders claimed they would submit to a small duty on

liquor, "but will not cease to bring it in till compelled %o do o

QIndians of North America, Notes on a conversation between
the Governor General and Sioux, Crees and Assiniboines, op. cit.
The Indians asked for a revision of the treaty in order thait they
make a decent living. Among other things they asked for draught
animals and farm implements. The Governor General appeared sym=-
pathetic to their requests. '

JMorris Papers, Ketcheson Collection, PeAocMo A, Morris, on.
April 22, 1874, stated that the Northwest would be "flooded™ with
liquor from Manitoba unless proper measures Were takene

4Sii’ton Papers, report to Lieutenant Governor of Manitoba,

April 49 18749 Pe 219 PohoCo
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by force of armse"5 Although the Canadian government passed muoch
legislation in its attempt to stop liquor trade and use by Indians,
it was never able to remove the problem.

Since the Indians by their own admission could no% refrain
from its use, liquor first of all meant a devastating economic
upheaval for them as their gains from the chase were diminished. !
Charles Bell in his report pointedyout the general evil influences )
of this drink upon the Indianss "This article speaks for itself. |
The mixture of alcohol, pain killer, tobacco-julce and coloring
matter is doing its work rapidly@“é Because the Indians had no
social, poliﬁical, or religious sanctions against the use of
liquor within their society as the Buro-Canadian society had,
they remained intemperate and victimized. The situation became more
acute as the Indians! culture disintegrated under the reserve

system,

b e e et R

It was the wish of both the treaty commissioner and the
Indian leaders that a prohibition clause be included in the treatys
The Canadian government attempted to control liquor trade and its
use by the Indians by having legislation enforced by Indian Affairs
employees and law-enforoing agencies such as the Northwest MNounted

Police, but the Indians continued to indulge in liquor indiscrim-

5Sifton Papers, report to Lieutenant Governor of Manitoba,
April 49 18749 Pe 219 PohoCo

6

Ibidey Po 296
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inately. Among the Indians of Treaty Number Four, liquor had

negative rather than positive connotations as there is no evidence
that they used liquor and drunkenness for extra percepiual powers.
But one must concur with André Vechom when he wrotes

Lieau-de-vie, certes, faisait son oeuvre dans cette
desintégration de 1la société indienne. Mais gardons-—
nous d'isoler ce facteur et d'en exagérer lt'importance.
L'sau-de=vie ne fut qu'un élément parmi tant d'autres, , i
dont l'action combinde amena le dépérissement physigue
et moral de 1l'Indiene 7

This view seems to be applicable to the Indians of Treaty

Four particularly after they had settled on reserves where they
continued to pufohase liquor illegally. Although it was rTeported
‘in 1903 that 12 sections of the Indian Act dealt with prohibition
for Indians and thatkliquor laws were sitringently enforced, the ;
claim was nevertheless made thats P

i

Notwithstanding the efforts put forth, it is to
be regretied that it has been found impossible to ook
put & stop entirely to intemperance among the i
Indians. It is well known that they are peculiarly 1
exposed to this temptation in consegquence of i
constitutional predisposition, and unprincipled b
Whitemen and Half-Breeds, knowing the traffic g
to be profitable in proportion to its risks, i
are ready to become the medium for supplying
intoxicants to the Indians. 8

Thua Indian agents\said that much of the money gained by ,

Indians through the sale of such items as their cattle, timber,

{

Tynaré Vachon, "L'eau-de-vie dans la Société Indienne," :
Canadian Historical Association Report, 1960, pe. 27.

8

Indian Affairs Doocuments, Black Series, memorandum from

Assistant Secretary, December 10, 1903, P.A.C.
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or furs was expended on liquor. The problem of liguor trade during
annuity payments remained foremost throughout the period. Pgrhaps
the desired protection for Indians from the use of 1iquor could
have been provided more effectively by hiring Indian chiefs as
agents by the Crown as suggesied by Indian Commissioner Laird in
1889. Perhaps the tremendous publicizing of the use of liquor by
Indians was overdone and camouflaged the more inherent social
problems caused by the cultural change they were experiencing, &
point made by André Vachon, |

I1s (les Indiens) vérifidrent le principe reconnue

en anthropolgie qu'une Civilization trop prlmltlveg

mise en contact direct avec une 01v1lizat10n evoluée,

a8t presque irremédiablement vouée a la destruction. 9
The liquor problem became incidental to the poverty culture of
the Indians of Treaty Number Four during the latter half of the
nineteenth century. There is no doubt that liquor became & greater
economic and social problem for the Indians afier their unique
bartering and trading system had come to an end with the Hudson's
Bay Company in 1879. As the Indians regressed into & welfere
state and distressing conditions with the introduction of the
ration system, liguor abuse became more of & social than an econ=
omic problem,

During the period under discussion, the health problems

of the Indians caused by lack of medical cares; epidemicsj lack of

proper housing, clothing and nourishment had dire effects upon the

9And1‘é Yachon, OPe oitey Po 320
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Indian population. The most prevalent diseases among the Indians
were tuberculosis and scrofula, both consumptive diseases. In

1895, Dr. John Hutchison reporited that "the most prevalent

diseases are Phthisis, Bronchitis, Pneumonia and Sorofulae“lO In

his report he also indicated that venereal diseases were less
prevalent. Tuberculosis was considered a hereditary disease and

was treated mainly with cod liver oil. Dre. T. A. Patriock, reporting
his findings at the Crowstand Boarding School on May 11, 1894,
showved that 10 out of 14 boys and 4 out of 12 girles had tuber-
culosis. He saw the problem this ways |

As to agencies tending to decrease of 'constitutional
diseases' I have to report that notwithstanding medical
and surgical treatment and the enforcement of ordinary
sanitary precautions by the Agent, death has been the
most potent factor in lessening the number of the
constitutional diseases, and it is dependent on me to
express the opinion that so long as those effected
with tuberculosis of the lungs, spit on floors on
which the non-infected lie and sleep, so long as the
disease 1s not detected and treated in its esarliest P
stages, Bo long as treatment is delayed till the

disease has manifested itself in suppurating glands,

bleeding lungs or diseased joints, so long will the

constant presence of the germs of tuberculosis prove

more powerful than the irregular exhibition of medi-

cines, 11

The conditions under which the Indians lived were condu-
cive to the contracting of scrofula which "is generally hereditary,

but may be acquired by unfavourable conditions of 1life, as, want

loIndian Affairs Documents, Black Series, report to Indian
Commissioner H. Reed, May 21, 1895, P.A.Co

111bid09 report to Lisutenant Governor Forget, June 17,
1895,
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of proper nourishment, fresh air, proper clothing, suitable '
exercisee“l2 These conditione were particularly applicable %o the
Plains Indians who had been established in crowded conditions on
reserves. The housing was less than adequate; those houses that
existed were over-orowded. The Indians who settled in small cluse
ters on the reserves had not yet learned to avoid unsanitary condi=
tions, conditions which had not existed in former times when they
were accustomed to moving from one place to another. After the
disappearance of the buffalo, the indians no longer had a balanced
diet. The Woodland psople who étill relied to a great extent upon
natural Poods such as small game, fish, and berries experienced
less hardship than did the Plains Indians. Farming’had not yet
reached & sufficient degree of success to provide the Indian with
a sufficiently balanced diet, and government rations of bacon and
flour were not enough to counteract the effectis of the harsh
climate and poor living éonditionse During the months of January,
February, and March, it was not uncommon for entire bands to be
affected by sicknesses such as influenza. DT. Ne Je Lindsay summed
up the situation in hié report, |

I am led to conclude that poverty induces scrofula and
numerTous diseases resulting in death, and civilization
which has proved so disastrous to the Indians in the past,
when pushed toc its fullest extent, so as to thoroughly
oivilize them, and make them useful citizens amongst us

will again restore their health and bring to them a wreturn
of happiness and plenty. 13

lzIndian Affairs Documents, Black Series, report from Dr.
N. Jo Lindsay %o Lieutemant Governor Forget, May 31; 1895 PohoCo

13Ibide

MmN
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Dr. Lindsay's view that the Indians could rid themselves

of their physical diseases as they could their social ills by
embracing the ways of the superior civilization did not material-
ize during the nineteenth century. In establishing the reserve
system, the Canadisn government chose the band as the basic unit.
In subsequent years, it became government‘policy to bresk down this
unit politically so that the religious as well as the social systems
of the Indians could be eliminsated. Little was expected of the
Indian under this policy, and no agency concerned had the means of
completely aceculturating the Indians. For example, the chiefs
continued to rival the Indian agents in the administration of band
operations,.

Prior to 1900, the sanctions applied against social and
religious customs of the Indians showed relatively little successe
The various dances, although outlawed, were often practiced to the
annoyance of government officials and clergy.

Two other major areas which were at variance with accepted
Canadian standards were marriage customs and'fhe chisftainship.
Indian Agent J. A. MacKay said in 1886, "In the present state of
the Indians generally; the‘extreﬁe laxity of their ideas and
practices in the matter {polygemy) renders it difficult to drew
the line bvetween legitimate and illegitimate ohildrengwl4

In the same letter, he indiozted that the prohibiting legislaiion

14Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, report to the
Indian Commissioner, October 20, 1886, P.A.C.
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would do little "until the Indiens are raised by Christian civil-

ization above their present low state of moralse"15 This was &
most diffiocult problem because the tribal customs of the Indians
were recognized by law. Indian Commissioner David Laird in 1908
discouraged Indian Agent M. Miller, Crooked Lake Agency, from
prosecuting Kah-ka-no-wen-~a-pew for bigemy in view of a British
Columbia Supreme Court rulingel6 Although the Indians still
practiced polygamy, it meant very little to the younger genserations
as other social values and the economic base associated with
polygamy became non-existent. It was, however, still significant
to Star Blanket, an old Plains chief, who preferred his several
wives to his chieftainship when given the choice between the two
by an agent.

I regret to inform you that Chief Star Blanket has

taken another wife. When I heard of this, I at once

had a long talk with him on the subject and he seems

gquite determined not to give the woman up. I in-

Pormed him that this practice was against the wishes

of the Department and that we expected more from him,

especially now that he had been reinstated as Chief,

and in reply to this he said he would much sooner

lose (sie) the Chieftainship than give the woman up,

and that he would not mind losing the office if his

brother (a worthless fellow) was appointed in his

stead o o o I trust soms example will be made in this

casey, if not it will be very difficult for me to stop
this practice in the future. 17

15Indian Affairs Documents, Black Series, report to the
Indian Commissioner, October 20, 1886, P.A.C.

16Ibideg letter from the Commissioner, July 23, 1908,

e,

17Ibideg report from the Commissioner to the Secretary,
Department of Indian Affairs, Ottawa, September 13, 1898,
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The chiefiainship became less signifiocant than in former
times since the traditionai customs assooiated with earning the

title of chief could no longer be practiced. Horse stealing,

Indian warfare, and the buffalo hunts were no longer possible and
existed only in the minds of the old and in siories around the
campfires.

One of the greatest evils alluded to by many government

officials was idleness by the Indians. The Plains Indians in foré

mer times had enjoyed more leisure time than héd the Woodland
peoples, but neither culture was based on idleness. To fhe
contrary, both demanded tedious, arduous, and skilful labour.

As the economic base from natural products declined, so did the
Indians' activity in meking a living. With the decline of his
aotivity came the decline of his culture, and as the Indiaxn
failed to embrace agriculture and the soecial mores of the white
civilization, his mode of life disintegrated. There is no doubt
that government officials and missionaries with their knowledge -

and resources tried to instill new values and skills in the

Indisn, but the change proved to be too sudden and too greate

BN R e i 3




SUMMARY

The objective of acquiring the vast area under Treaty Four
for settlement in a peaceful manner &s stated in the treaty weas
fulfilled. The implementation of the treaty partly fulfilled
the wishes of the Indians, but the discrepancies between the
promises made by Comnissioner Morris and the actual terms of the
treaty soon became evident. The Indians grew discontented under
the conditions in which they found themselves on the reserves.
Although the Cenadian government expended funds beyond the terms
of the treaties as in supplying rations, the Indiens often charged
the government with non=fulfillment of its obligations as in
providing tools and farming squipment and providing schools on
reserves. The problem was that the treaty terms allovwed insuf-
ficient funde and provisions to permit. the Inﬁians to estaﬁlish
themselves successfully in & new way of life.

Treaty Number Four which has been termed the fore-runner of
treaties in the Northwest was an extension of the policy followed
by the Canadian government in dealing with other Indians in
Rupertsland. Although A. No Provencher, Indian Commissioner,
had suggested that Indians of the Northwest should not be deall
with by treaty, the government folt obliged to do so. No doubt it
was necessary %o give formal recognition to Indisns of the North—
west because they were too pewerful and uncompromising to wrestle

with for their lands. The question is, how did treatios affeot

the Indians of this avea specifically and Indians undsr other

e
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treaties? Initially, the Indians of Treaty Four showed their

strong positions by carrying out protracted negotiations, by
refusing to sign the treaty, and by refusing to submit to its
terms. Conversely, they remained on the whole law-abiding people
because government officials had shown a willingness to negotiate. f
The formal and legal recognition of their title o the ;oil gave ‘ :
the Indians a sense of security and dignity in dealing with govern-
ment officials. The government perpetuated the Indians® rights by
always consulting the Indians in the surrender of their lands and
maintained Purther that relative sense of security by aitempiing ' e
to fulfill specific terms such as tye payment of annuities. i_
By the 1880%'s, whether the Indians of Treaty Number Four
had settled on reserves or not their economic and social conditions

were generally depressed. The depression inoreased with time. I%

was caused generally by the lack of teohnological knowledge re-

1 e e e e TR
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quired for farming or industry. The Department of Indian Affairs,

unable to cope in its mission to civilize the Indians, relied on

rations to help its wards survive. Generally both the Plains
and Woodland people were affected adversely by the coming of a
tguperior?® nation. "o

After the signing of the treaty, the culture of the Plains
Indians crumbled at an alarming rate because the buffalo, the basis
of that culture, was vanishing. Although this fact was recog-

nized by meny Indians, their reluctance to replace the buffalo

with the plough further ocomplicated their economic problem. When
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they did settle on reserves, their actions seemed to have been
futile as the old as well as the new genaration generally did not
undertake agricultural pursuits. The disappearance of the buffale
was too sudden and complete to allow the Plains people to make a
proper adjustmentsy the concepts of the new civilization were too
foreign and remote from their own experiencee To them, the
buffalo had been an all-encompassing factor in their lives, and
most of them could not believe that the Great Spirit would cut

off their source of food, sheltarg'and independéncs indefinitely.
The disappearance of the buffalo and the impact of a more complex
sooiety based on advanced technology were to undermine all aspects
of the buffalo hunters® way of life.

The impact of bivilization'was less abrupit and destructive
for the Woodlands people for they did not experience outright
removal from their natural habitat nor did they lose thelr economic
base so abruptly. Bven with the coming of the railroad and settlem
ment, many of these Indiasns were able to sustain themselves parte
ially through fur trade, hunting, and fishing. Picking of sensca
root and farming to a lesser extent contributed to their partial
self-sustenance. Nonetheless, their lack of total dependence upon
their own resources, the negative influence of settlement, and the
compulsion to settle on reserves quickly demoralized the Woodland
people to the extent that most of them were no better off than the
Plains Indianas by the turn of the centurye.

Tilling of the soil and other manual work openly opposed

by the Plains people, in particular, conflicted generally with the
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Indian's concept of the relationship between his religion and'his

ability to provide food. The Indien had been used to direct his
supplications to the spirits to endow him liberally with nature's
bounty. Agriculture meant he had to perform physically to reap
produce from the soil. When the attempt to till the soil proved
unsuccessful, it became virtually.imbossible 1o convert the riders
of the plains and the woodland hunters into tillers of the soil.
Manual labour aléo created an imbalance in the fairly well-defined
division of labour between the male and the female in the band.
Part of the social structure which had formed a basis of the Indian
culture could no longer be sustained.

The resulting demoraligzation of the Indien culturé deeply
affected by the coming of settlement and mass immigration was oo
much for the human and material resources available. It is fair
to say that on the whole the Canadian government'’s policy of
improving the Indians' condition and of entlcing him to partici-
pate in the dominant white society was well-meant and humane. The
government's farm poliecy, its approval of the missionary scﬁemesg
and some of its educational policies illustrate the point. The
failure of agencies to implement these policies more successfully
and more universally among the native people, as seen in reirospect,
does not detract from the merit.of these policles. It does,
however, show that neither the white man nor the red man ocould
alleviate the Indians® plight. Enough blame was placed upon the

‘government by the majority of inhabitants close to Louis Riel to

side with him to some degree inm his rebellion. When the smoke
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had cleared after the spring of 1885, the Canadian government

attempted to improve the condition of the Indians of the North-
west including those of Treaty Four whether they had remained
aloof or had participated in the rebellion. The government sub-
divided the Indians of Treaty Four into six agencies with better
éervioes, but there is nothing to indicate that the new Indian
genersation responded more positively.

As Buro-Canadians gained e strong hold of the region, thes
Indian population remained fairly comnstant and relatively small,
In 1874, they had formed a large majority in the Northwest. By
the mid-1880's, they formed one-half of i%s population, and by
1900, they were a small minority. A subdued, poveriy-stiricken
minority was no longer a force with which to reckon. Arguments
were put forth that reserve lands whether used by the Indians or
not ought to be surrendered on behalf of more settlement. As time
progressed, local politicians, sensitive to political pressuré,
obliged their constituents by advocating the purchase of reserve
lands. The Ministers of the Interior usually sacrificed Iﬂdian
interests for more popular ones. The Indians who had not yet
been enfranchised could no longer touch the political nerve at
‘the local level or in Ottawa.

The white people have men they send to Ottawa to

speak for them but we have no one. If the Govern-

ment could understand all I feel sure they would

make our life easier. And now Great Chief we have

much that could be said but I cannot at this time.

The buffale and deer are gone and our people will

soon be hard to find but while we are still here I
would ask the Government not to forget their treaty

i.
i:
|
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to send out some honest men to engquire into our

troubles and let us explain them. And then as

the Great Spirit live (sic) I trust justice

will be dones, 1
Political oblivion was a faot much to the detriment of +the Indians.

As the old generation died off or its survivors dreamed
of the old days and the new generation was born into the welfare
state, the future of the Indians of the Canadian Northwest indeed
looked bleak at the turn of the century. The only hope seemed o
be in agriculture in whioch & minority of Indians were engaged or
in leaving the reserve for outside permanent employmente Then
the individual was no longer an Indian. He took on the image of

the white man and embraced a "higher® givilization —- therein was

supposed to lie his successs

llndian Affairs Documents, Black Series, Star Blanket,
Chief of the Cree band, speaking to 'the Great White Chief®
(presumably the Governor General), undatede PeAeCe
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SPECIAL APPENDIX, | SRR
(B.) ' ‘
Licut.-Governar Morris to the Hon. (ke Secretary of State.

GOVERNMENT Ilouse, S
Forr Garnny, MaNrTona,” Octobor 17, 1874. . SAR S
Siw—I have tho honor to inform you that in complianco with tho request of the o
esrement, | proceoded to Liake Qu'Appelle in com any with tho Honorable David , i
wolinunder to aet with him and W. J. Christioe, l3q., as Commissioners to nego- RN
vy 'l‘rv:.ty with the Tribes of Indians in that region, ; ;
Hr Laind and 1left Topt Garey on tho 26th of August, and arvived at Take !
“tiielle on the Sthoof Soptomber, Mr, Chyristio having gono in advanco of us to -
v,".nf"«'”_'v'. . _ . o : ; ! ;
e woro accompanied on arriving by tho escort of Militia under the command R P
coitUolonel W, Osborne Swmith, who had preceded us, but whom wo had . :

YRaen,

-

s eseort took up their encampmont at a vory desirable situation on tho odgo ' C ¢

4> Lake, tho Indisng being encamped at somo distanco, N

S Commissionors wore kindly provided with apartments by W, J, 3cLoan, o

Lo the officor [n charge of the Hudson Bay Compuny’s Post. !

Aer our arrival, the Commissionors caused the Indians to bo summoned, to !

wtem, {n g marqueo tent adjoining the encamproent of the Militia, : i
=it ' ) xix = - : N
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The (rees eante hoadod by their prineipal chiel ® Loud Voieo," and o numbor of
Saulteaux followed, without their chiol, Cotlté, o Comnissioners, havings dcog(;(dl
that it was desivable that there should be only one speaker on behadt of the Comiuis.
stonars, vequestad mo owing to my provious experience with the Indian Pribes fud
my official position iy Tioutonant Governor of the North Wost Torritories, (o undey.
tako the duty, which I agroed to do.  Aceordingly, T {fold the Indians the ohioct of
our coming and invited thom to presont to us their ehiefsnnd hondmen, * Lowl Voice”
stated that they were not yob ready and asked for a deluy till next day, to which we
assontaod,

On the 9th, four Indian soldiers were sent o the Commissioners to ask for two
days dolay, butowe vepliol that whon they met us in conferonce they could prefer
any reasonablo roquest, bub that wo sxpoctod them o meet us w yrroed on (e pro-
vious day, and further that the Saultenux had not conductod themselves with ropor
respeet to the Commissionors, as roprovontatives of tho  Grown, as their principal
ehiof Cotté had not et use Bvontoudly, both the Groes and Saultonux mot ox with
their ehiefs, when | addronted them, They askod titne to deliberato and wo “PP‘"i“lt‘i
tho 11th ¢t 10 o'cloek for the next conference, '

The Crees then left tho tont suddenly, wnder sonstraint of tho Indian soldier
who compelled tho chiefs to go. '

Ou the 11th wesent @ buglor round to summon the Indians to the appointed
conferenco, but they did not come. .

Instead the Saulteaux sent word that they could not raeet us except in theie
own soldiora tent, distant about a mile from the Militin encampraent, but we refused
to do so.

The Crees wore roady to procoed to the marquee, but wero preventod by the
Saulteaux, a section of whom displayed s turbulent disposition and were numor'i('uﬂy
tho strongoest party. We sent our interpretor Charles Pratt, a Croo Indian, who wis
oducatod at St. John's Collego hore, and who is 14 catechist of the Church of Tingland
to Loll tho [ndians that thoy must moot us as agreod upon. T

Tn consoquence, about four o'clock in the afternoon, the Croea led by “ Tomd
VYoico,” cumo to the conference, but tho Suultenux kept away, though.a number were
sont to hoar and roport.  On behalfof the Comrminsioners, 1 then explainod to the

- Creos tio objet of our mission and made ous; proposuls for u Trealy, but as they wers

not ready to reply, wo asked thom to roturn to their tents and meet us next day.
On the 12th tho Croos and Saulteaux sent four men from the soldiors tent or

-couneil, which they had organizod, to ask that tho encampment of tho Militin and

tho conference tents should be removed half way, towards their encampment,

In consequence, we requested Lt.-Col. Smith to proceed to the Indian encumy-
mont and aecertain the meaning of this demand, authorvizing him, if nocessary,
arrange for the pitchiog of tho conforonco tent necarer tho Indians, if that would give
thom any satisfietion. : ,

Ho yoported, on his return, that the Indians wished the Mililis to oncamp with
thom, and that they objeetod to meot ua unywhere on the Reserve of tho Iudwm Bay
(.‘umk»:my, as they said they could not spenk freely there.

ile refused 1o remove tho Militin camp, as it was a very desirable placo where it
had been placed, but with tho assent ot the Indiuns selectod & xpor adjoining the
Renorve and at o suitable distance from the Indian tents, on which the conferemw
tont was to ho daily orected, but to bo removed altor the conforences closed.

Wo then summoned tho Indians to meet us a1 o'clock, which thoy did at the

appointod place,

Altor the tormul hand shalking, which coremony they ropent ab the beginnirg
and cioso of evory intorview, the Commirsioners submitiod their torms for s traty.
whigh were in eifeet shinilar o thoso grimted at the North West Anglo, excopt that
the money present offored Was oight dollary per head, iustead of twolve doliam as
there. . ‘ ' . .

The Indians declined, bowevor, to tallc about these proposals, as thoy said them

was gomething in the way. Thoy objectod to the Resorve having beon narveye!
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hout their fest having boon consulted, and elnimaod
st the L3000 paid to the company shoubd bo paid 1o thom.  T'hoy ko objoetod
o the evnnanies tading in tho Territory, except only ot thoir postae 'ho Commin-
goneed reised to comply with their domands, and expldned To them how tho
Comuany hal become outitled to the Reservo in question, and, e natare of the
arentizeinent, that had vesalted in the payment by the Govornment of Canada of the
EUHINTIUAN

The eanforence, adjonrned (o Monday the Tith on which day tha Commisioners
genin et them, but the Croo ehiet* Loud Voico " anked for annther day (o considor
dhe matter and *Cottd ™ or ¢ Meemay " tho Saultesux chiofy from Fort Pelly, aikoed
o be treated with, at hik own place,  They demanded, that the Conipany should only
bo allowed to tinde at their own posts, and not to rend oul teadar indo the Porvitory
—ahich was of comrro vetiused, it being oxpluined to them that adl How Majonty's
suljects Dad equal vight of trading, T Commissioners, thon sgeread Lo grant w final
delay ot another day, for further considoration. Up to this poriod tho position wns
vory unsalislietory. -

The Crees were from the first ready to treat, as wero the Saulicanx from Fort
Ielly, but the Smltenux of the Qu'Appollo District wero nob dixposed o do 40 and.
attempted to ceerven the other Tndians,

They kept the chiefs # Lowl Voico™ and @ Cotté " under clone purveillanee, they

Sor the Twdson Bay Company ., wit

being either contined to their tents o olno watched by ¢ soldiors)” and threatoned ir
they shenld make any overtures (o s, .

The Smuiteanx ent down the fent over tho head of ono of tho Crea chicfs and
eonductad themselves in such & manner, that  Loud Voice” applied to tho Com-
missioners for protoction, and tho Crees purchased lnives and armued themselves,

The Saidteauy, ono day went the length of plicing six goldiers,” wrmed with
riflos and revolvers, in the conforenco tent to intimidate tho other Jndiang, n step
which was promptly counteracted by Lt.-Colonol Simith, calling in six of the Militia-
men who were stationed in the tont. In this connection, L'must talo the opport-
wnity of ’tating that tho rosults, proved tho wirdom of tho course taken by the
Comunissioners in obtaining tho escort of tho Militia, as their presonco oxorted groat
moral inflacnee, and I am porsuaded, prevented the jealousios and ancient foud
between the Crees and Saultoaux culminating in acty of violence.

The conduct of tho whole foreo was excellont and, whothor on the march or in the

eocampment ground, thoy conductod thomselves in a most ercditablo manner.

Resuining, however, my narrative, on tho 15th of Soptember, the Commirsionors
sgain met the Indians at 11 o'clock in the forenoon, ~

The Crees had, in tho intorval, decided to troat with us indopendently, and the
Sanlteaus, finding this, camo to a similar conclusion, Aftor a protracted intorview,
the Indians asked to bo granted tho same terms as wers givon ab tho North West
angle. ‘The Commissioners toolk timo to cousidor and adjournod tho conforonce,
antil 3 o'clock. .

In tho iaterval, tho Commissionors, boing persuaded that a treaty could nos

Lerwire be made, determined on aceeding to the roquost of the Tndians.

The Indians, having again mot tho Commirsioners in the aflornoon, presontod
their chivix to them, whon thoy asked to be informed, what tho torms cranted at tho
North West. Anglo woro. Theso wore fully and carofully explained to them, but after
s roquest that all the Indians owad to tho Iudson Bay Company should bo wipod
out and a refusal of tho Commissionora to ontortain thoir demands, they thon asied
that they should be paid fifteon dollars por annum per hoad, which way reflused, and
they were informod that tho proposals of tho Commissionors wero final, and could
eot bo chang d, '

_ Tho chicfs thon agrdod to accopt tho terms offored and to aign tho treaty, having
frt anked that tho half-breeds should bo allowod to hunt, and having heon assured
that tho popuintion in tho North Wost would bo troated fairly amd juatly, tho Lroaty
win signed by tho Commissionors and tho chiofs, having boon first fully oxplained 2 .
diem by the interprotor, . c
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Artangoments waro thon mado to commoneo tho paymonts aud distribution of
the }‘»l'mt\‘nis the next day, o duty which wis diseharged by Mreo Christio and M,
Dickicron, Privato Soerotary ol tho Honorable My, Laird,

[ forward you to form an :1])]wnrli.\' to this deaputeh, o roport marked “ A" and
“B M extended from notos taken in short hand, by Me. Dickicson, of the various
“eonferences and of tho uttorances of the Commissioners and tho Indiang,

1t s obvious that saeh a rocond will prove valuable, as it enablos any misunder-
standing on tho part of tho Indinns, s to whal was sudd at tho conferonco, 1o be cor
rected, and i, moceovor, will onablo the Council botter to approcinte tho character of
the difliculties that havo to bo encountered in negotinting with the Indinng,

On tho 17th T left for Fort Iillice, in company with Mr. Tuivd, Mr. Christio and
“Me. Dickioson remaining to completo the payments, which were natisfactorily djs-
poswd of!

Beivro leaving, tho Chiofs “ Tioud Voice™ and Cotté ealled on us to tendor their
good wishes, and o asyure us that they would teach their pooplo to respect the
troaty. :

‘ The Commixsioners roceived wvory assistance in their power from Mr. McDonasld
of Fort Bllice, in charge of tho Hudson Bay Company District of Swan River, und from
Mr, MeLean, in chargo of tho Qu'Appelle Posi,—I also add, that the T alfBreud
population were I believo gonerally desivous of secing tho treaty concluded and
used the influenco of their connoction with tho Indians in its favor,

. [ forward in annther denputeh a copy of an address [ recoived from tho Hetis,
togother with my reply theroto. ’

Tho treaty was talon ehargo of by the Honorable Mr. Taird, and will bo by him
placed on record in his Depurtmont and submitted to Council for approval,

T enclose herewith, howover, u printed copy of it, marked “ C," to accompany
this despateh, .

Tho supplementary troaty made at Fort Tllico wiil form tho subject of another
despatch.

Trusting that the efforts of the Commissioners to sccuro n watisfuctory
understanding with the Wostorn Indians will result in benofit to tho race, sdvantage
to tho Dominion, and meet the approval of the Privy Council,

' I have the honor to be, Siv;
Your obediont servant,
ALEXANDER MORRIS,
Lieut-Gov. N. W. T.
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Appendix VIII

DESCRIPTION AND PLANE OF CRRTAIN INDIAN RESERVED

IN THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA AND THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES, 1889,

~ Selected Statistics.

Reserve Name of Reserve Year Number of
Noe and Chief Surveyed Arca Pamilies in band
62 Vay-way see 1877 39 sqge. miles 26
Cappo
63 The Gambler 1883 30 sq. miles 44
64 Gabriel Cotd 1877 56.5 sq. miles 56
65 The Key 1883 38 'sq. miles 15
66 Kee~sce-koose 1883 28.6 sq. miles C42
68 Pheasant's Rump 1881 no statistics
69 Ocean Man 1881 37 sqe miles 26
70 White Bear 1887 45 sq. miles 24
71 Kakeshoway and 1881 82,6 sq. miles 69
Chacachase
72 Kakeewistahaw 1881 T3 sge. miles 49
724 Kakeewistahaw 1884 96 acres no statistics
73 Cowessess 1881 78 sq. miles 70
734 Little Bone 1884 10.9 8g. miles 10
14 Sakimay 1881 33.88 sge. miles 32
(Mosquito)
T44 Sheesheep 1884 5.6 sq. miles
75 Pie-a-pot 1885 no statistics 63
76 Jack or 'The Man 1885 73.2 sqe. miles 65
Who Took The Coat
78 Standing Bull 1881 7.6 sq. miles 50
79 Pasquau 1876 60,2 sq. miles 79
80 Muscowpetung 1881 58.8 sg. miles 44
81 Poo-pe-ke-sis 1880-87 41.6 sqe. miles 31
82 Okanesseo 1880 22,36 sq. miles 21
83 Star Blanket 1880 21,5 8q. miles 23
84 Péttle Black 1880-84 46.5 sg. miles 29
ear




36 sge. miles
48 sq. miles
24 gg. miles
4205 sqe miles

3405 sq. miles
16,6 sq. miles

2,3 sq. miles

Reserve Name of Hesexrve Year

Noe and Chief Surveyed Area

85 Muskow-okwun 1884

86 George Gordon 1883

87 Day Star 1876

88 Kawakatoose 1876
(The Poor Man)

89 Yellow Quill 1861

90 Part of Yellow 1881
Quill®s Band

94 White Cap 1888

Nunmber of
families in band

45
44
22

2T

51

no statistiocs

22
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Appendix IX

WeiI‘, Te Ro (edo)9
Atlas of the Prairie Provinces,
Toronto, Oxford University
Press,; 1971.
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Avpendix XI

Canada, Public Archives,
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